



Article

An Analysis of the Adequacy of Protection Afforded by the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) in Situations of Armed Conflict

Ivan K. Mugabi

School of Law and Politics, Cardiff University, Cardiff CF10 3AT, UK; MugabiIM@cardiff.ac.uk

Received: 23 February 2018; Accepted: 11 April 2018; Published: 8 May 2018



Abstract: This essay aims to describe the contrasting approaches to disability described by international humanitarian law (IHL) and international human rights law (IHRL) with the aim of pointing out the approaches/models of disability underpinning two legal regimes. The limits of those approaches/models in the treatment and protection of persons with disabilities shall be investigated and established. Ultimately, the paper considers the possibility of recommending a unified approach/model that should underpin both IHL and IHRL in addressing aspects of disability.

Keywords: person with disabilities; international humanitarian law; international human rights law

Contents	
1. Introduction	2
2. International Humanitarian Law (IHL) and International Human Rights Law (IHRL) in Situations of	
Armed Conflict	
2.1. The Complementarity of and Contrasts between IHL and IHRL	4
2.2. The Problem of Varied Standards under the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) and IHL	5
2.3. Specialised Treaties: Duty to Protect in Armed Conflicts	6
2.4. CRPD's Social Model, IHL's Medical Model during Armed Conflicts	7
3. Varied Standards of Protecti on in IHRL and IHL	
3.1. Right to Life in Situations of Armed Conflics	9
3.2. The Right to Life in the Context of IHRL	
3.3. The Right to Life in the CRPD: Armed Conflict (Articles 10 and 11)	10
3.4. Right to Life for Persons with Communication Disabilities in Armed Conflicts	
4. Reconciling IHL with Modern Disability	12
4.1. Definition of Disabilities and Persons with Disabilities (CRPD)	12
4.2. Absence of a Definition of Disability in IHL	
5. The Protection of Disability Rights	16
5.1. The Origins of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities	16
5.2. International Law on Disability after the 1980s	
6. Extraterritoriality of CRPD Obligations in Armed Conflicts	17
6.1. Applicability of the CRPD to Some Situations of Armed Conflict	17
6.2. The Jurisdiction Clause under the Optional Protocols to the CRPD	
6.3. European Convention and Extraterritorial Jurisdiction	19
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and Jurisdiction in Armed	
Conflicts	20
6.4. The International Court of Justice (ICJ) and Its Reference to Jurisdiction in Situations of Armed	
Conflict	20
6.4.1. Recommendations from the CRPD Committee on Article 11 in Armed Conflict	
6.4.2. Extending the Jurisdiction Approach to the CRPD during Belligerent Occupation	
6.4.3. Reservations to the Application of the CRPD in Situations of Armed Conflict	22

7. Ideal Disability Rights Practices	23
7.1. The CRPD Committee and Its Contribution to Ideal Practices	
7.2. Non-State Actors and the Sufficiency of the CRPD Obligations	24
8. Conclusions.	
Observations and Areas for Future Research	28
References and Notes	29

1. Introduction

The papers analyses the practical challenges that relate to the obligation of protecting persons with disabilities in situations of armed conflict as envisaged under Article 11 of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) [1]. In carrying out this analysis, this study draws upon discourses meant to advance the growing reasoning that state actors should uphold the same nature and standard of human rights obligations in times of armed conflict as those that they are meant to uphold in times of peace [2]. In some of those cases, jurisdictional-centered arguments are increasingly proving a means of extending the scope of human rights in states' obligations from situations of peace to those of armed conflict [3] (p. 7). That increasing reference to jurisdiction as the basis of enforcing the state's responsibilities must have resulted from the desire to strengthen compliance with obligations enshrined in human rights instruments in relation to armed conflicts which are fought outside their jurisdiction, rather than limiting these to obligations in situations of armed conflict happening within a state's territorial boundaries [4]. Accordingly, in cases of belligerent occupation that may arise during armed conflict, the territory [5] (paragraphs 60–64) in which the armed conflict is located [6] (p. 4), nor the nationalities or citizenship of the affected individuals [7] (p. 37) exonerate the state from the extraterritorial scope of their human rights obligations. Therefore, there is a chance to improve the protection of rights, considering the jurisdiction method of enforcing the rights of individuals with disabilities [8] (p. 735).

This paper shall mostly examine four questions. Firstly, which sources of law can support the extraterritorial application of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) in times of armed conflict? What similarities and inconsistencies in conceptualising the standards of protecting persons with disabilities can be inferred from treaties of international human rights law (IHRL) and those of international humanitarian law (IHL) if treaties from both legal regimes are concurrently applied to situations of armed conflict? How have the differences in time scales when specific models of disability have emerged and are underpinned by a recent treaty of IHRL or of IHRL been a driving factor in accounting for the likely variance in the standards of conceptualising the protection underpinning IHL and IHRL treaties, especially the CRPD, when it comes to persons with disabilities? What arguments can be used in enhancing complementarity between IHL and relevant IHRL sources, in particular the CRPD, so as to harmonise the protection these two regimes of public law can afford to persons with disabilities in cases where they are in situations of armed conflict?

In responding to the above concerns, the essay shall be investigating and analyses how the conceptualisation of disability-related obligations under the CRPD treaty and the conceptualisation of similar obligations under IHL might have some contradictions [9] (p. 54). This analysis contends that such contradictions could arise from the likelihood of having irreconcilable inconsistences in models and approaches to the understanding of disability and disabling factors in the two treaty regimes [10].

In such a case, it is arguable that there is a strong possibility for these two legal regimes to be fairly irreconcilable in their objectives towards persons with disabilities and the standards of protection that the respective regimes avail to them [11]. Under IHL treaties the framing of obligations associated with disability remains founded upon underpinnings of a medical model of disability [12], in contrast with those of IHRL treaties like the CPRD [13] (p. 219), whose disability-related obligations are framed upon underpinnings and approaches of a social model [14] (p. 11). It is imperative to note that the social model is also characterised by an outward-looking approach known for blaming the causes of disability on external factors [15] (p. 12). Thus, the model advances the argument that problems of

persons with disabilities necessitate adaptation of measures that are externally supportive to persons with disabilities rather than focusing on their impairments [16] (pp. 3–16).

The above view is acutely contrastable with the inward-looking approach of the medical and individual models that attribute the impairment of a body that must be rehabilitated [17]. The causes and consequential implications of those contradictions seem to be often overlooked by contemporary legal scholars of human rights who blame the inadequacy of the model that has always underpinned IHL obligations, thereby affording some degree of justification for mainly preferring and prioritising the universalised internationalisation the social model of disability that underpins most disability-related obligations of IHRL treaties such as the CRPD. However, some proponents have pointed out concerns relating to the reliability of human rights obligations that have been framed upon underpinnings of social models in regulating actions of state actors in either situations of armed conflict or those of belligerent occupation [18] (paragraphs 60–64). It is vital to state that although where other treaties of IHRL that enshrine considered rights-based obligations similar to those of the CRPD shall be afforded consideration in the subsequent discussions of this essay, it is worth reiterating that attention shall be centred on analysing the consequences and implications of the differences in models or approaches through which the CRPD (as the only specifically disability-oriented IHRL treaty) and IHL treaties, especially the four Geneva Conventions of 1949 and their Additional Protocols, either portray disability or present their obligations of addressing the causes as well as the manifestation of disabling environments. That analysis is important in appreciating the criticisms of emerging proponents that contest the growing tendency to use the CRPD for developing obligations owed to individuals with disabilities in contexts that are either oblivious or dismissive of disabling surroundings as experienced or for characterising conflicted states as well as post-conflict states. This essay considers as important the idea of armed conflict and the inherent nature of its disabling environments in supporting the need to maintain the variances in the manner in which disability-related obligations under the above IHL treaties interact with aspects of disability. In that way, this study notes and argues that the relationship of causality that situations of armed conflicts have with disability, particularly in the context of war-related disabilities, might have greatly influenced IHL's conceptualisation of disability, a trend that may partly account for the inward-looking approach of medical and individual models of disability in IHL's conceptualisation of disability and, consequently, its underpinning of disability-related obligations. The paper envisages the need to use models of disability to revisit how the nature and context of disability-related obligations could vary according to the paradigms of "jus ad bellum", "jus in bello" and "jus post bellum". It is the lack of such a correlated preview of disability that may account for some of the inadequacies in the protection envisaged under Article 11 of the CRPD concerning persons with disabilities (an article whose minimalist protection appears to be more limited to states that deal with disability in an ongoing armed conflict, "jus in bello" [19] (paragraph 16), rather than dealing with issues incidental to disability in the aftermath of the armed conflict, jus post bellum or a post-conflict state). Additionally, Article 11 of the CRPD infers the concurrent import of obligations from the two regimes (IHL alongside IHRL) which are both comprised obligations, underpinned by almost irreconcilable conceptualizations of disability [20]. Subsequently, the disability obligations of those two legal regimes are portrayed in ways that are not only aimed at achieving different objectives but also tend to contradict each other on matters of disability according to Article 8 of Additional Protocol 1 and Article 68 of Geneva Convention III [21].

In analysing IHL, this study argues that there is neither concrete evidence of instances where IHL provisions explicitly cover persons with disabilities nor an elaborate definition of what constitutes disabilities or disability [22]. That challenge is compounded by evidence of where IHL appears to underestimate the importance of specifically rendering distinct protection to persons with disabilities by parties taking part in an armed conflict, whereby IHL emphasises the mainstream trend of using a two-fold categorisation of legal protection centred upon civilian and combatant classification [23] (p. 1275). The classification overshadows the need for promoting the distinctiveness and visibility of persons with disabilities. Under IHL, such a distinction is much more likely to extend greater protection

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 4 of 43

to persons with disabilities either as civilians or as combatants who might have become disabled by way of experiencing the disabling nature of collateral damage that is peculiar to environments of conflicted and post-conflict state actors [24] (p. 97).

Therefore, the research explores the solution by considering the possibility of harmonising the protection afforded to the disabled by extending the CRPD's definition of disabilities to IHL. That harmonisation assists in demonstrating to IHL that the vulnerability, identity, diversity and humanity of individuals with disabilities matters when planning protective measures for non-combatants during and after an armed conflict.

The study advances a view that such harmonisation ought to be encouraged as a means of filling the gaps subsisting in IHL as one of the protective fields of public international law during armed conflicts after reconciling its inconsistencies with the CRPD [25]. In essence, complementarity should be encouraged wherever harmonisation is attainable in order to harmonise and strengthen the protection rendered to persons with disabilities by combining the legal regimes of IHL and those of the CRPD in situations of armed conflict [26].

In some ways, this research builds upon the work of Hart et al. [12,26] who observed that IHL's medical model of conceptualising disability is outdated in relation to the social model that underpins the CRPD regime of protecting persons with disabilities. Finally, it should be mentioned that although physical, mental and intellectual disabilities are different types of disability, as mentioned in Article 1 of the CRPD, the terms 'mobility disabilities' and 'communication disabilities' shall be used when illustrating the nature of problems faced by persons with disabilities which the CRPD's social model could, in some respects, address [27] (p. 17).

2. International Humanitarian Law (IHL) and International Human Rights Law (IHRL) in Situations of Armed Conflict

2.1. The Complementarity of and Contrasts between IHL and IHRL

Traditionally, IHRL and IHL have been two distinctive branches of public international law ([9], [28] (p. 311)). The International Law Commission's report mentioned that IHRL relates to the protection of individual rights from the abusive behaviours of state actors [29], whereas IHL aims to minimise unnecessary suffering inflicted on non-combatants and those combatants that have withdrawn from taking part in armed hostilities [30] Common Article 3. Another distinguishing aspect is derived from the fact that IHRL is applied vertically (between a state actor and individuals) while IHL is applied horizontally (either between one state and another state, or a state and belligerents) [31] (p. 143).

In spite of those differences, in terms of protection recent developments in disability law have increasingly acknowledged the evidence of protective overlaps in the humanity-based values underpinning the objectives of IHL and IHRL. Perhaps those overlapping values founded upon humanity account for the importance of strengthening the shared elements underpinning the fundamental principles of IHL and IHRL for the sake of ensuring complementarity in the protective frameworks of these two legal regimes [28,32]. Among others, examples of those values driven by elements of humanity include the theoretical assumptions underlying the role of law in protecting human life as an integral ingredient of human dignity in times of peace as well as in situations of armed conflict [33] (Preamble), (p. 84). Those overlapping attributes might account for the concurrent application of human rights alongside humanitarian law by the United Nations Security Council [34] General Assembly, and the International Court of Justice (ICJ) when dealing with the consequences of armed conflict [35] (paragraph 25).

2.2. The Problem of Varied Standards under the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) and IHL

In terms of illustrating that the inadequacies and inconsistences in legal regimes could be associated with the varied standards of protective aspirations under the provisions of the CRPD

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 5 of 43

and IHL, the research refers to Article 10 of the CRPD if read in conjunction with Article 11. In that context, the former provision relates to the state party's obligation of ensuring the equal protection and enjoyment of the right to life, while the latter asserts that the state's protective duties in IHL and IHRL must be respected even during situations of natural and manmade disasters such as those of armed conflict [35]. Therefore, the subsequent paragraphs shall elaborate in detail some of the problems of applying IHRL alongside IHL rules of proportionality in situations of armed conflict as provided under (Article 51(5) (b) and 57(2) (a) (iii) and (b) of Additional Protocol ii to the 1949 Geneva Conventions) [36]. Identifying those problems is vital to understanding the complications that might arise from the concurrent enforcement of IHL and IHRL when protecting persons with disabilities during armed conflict.

In that regard, the right to life's usefulness lies in being a practical example of those rights and undergoes the impact of the varied protective standards regulating aspects of human rights and humanitarian law, especially if those aspects result in instances where IHRL and IHL are consecutively applied during an armed conflict [37]. In those instances, state actors are required to concurrently respect the obligations of IHRL as well as those of IHL treaties where those obligations are logically impracticable or inconsistent if contextualised in situations of an armed conflict [38] (p. 129).

It is paramount to examine and critically analyse the evidence of the varied extent to which the right to life is controversial under the treaty sources of IHL and IHRL. However, the research notes that in the course of resolving armed conflict-related problems, the sources of laws that are often relied upon by most human rights courts save for the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, are in most cases derived from treaties of IHRL rather than IHL [39] (Article 2) For example, the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) has had a tendency to refer to IHRL with the exception of its decision in Hassan v. United Kingdom [40] (paragraph 6), Such a trend of resorting to IHRL occurs in a number of ECtHR's decisions such as that of Al-Skeini v. United Kingdom [41] (paragraphs 162–164). In Al-Skeini, the court accepted a claim that was based on Article 2 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) concerning the UK's failure to respect its human right obligation. This decision invoked that concept of the State Agency authority jurisdiction as it had been applied in the case of Cyprus v. Turkey [42]. Based on that concept the obligation in Article 2 required the state party to investigate the circumstances during an armed conflict during which the applicants' relatives had lost their lives in circumstances that are similar to those in the case of Medvedyev and others v. France [43] Similarly, the ICJ has also increasingly drawn from sources of IHRL treaties when discussing the legitimate means and methods of warfare, as exemplified in the ICJ's advisory opinion on the use of nuclear weapons [44] (p. 101). The Court also take a legal position similar to that in the case of Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, Advisory Opinion [hereinafter Palestinian Wall] by observes that the protection of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights [ICCPR] does not cease in times of war, except by operation of Article 4 whereby certain provisions of the ICCPR could be derogated from in a time of national emergency [45].

It is highly likely that the increasing awareness of the overlapping aspects in motives of IHL and IHRL by the enforcement agencies may account for the increase in their concurrent application in situations of armed conflict [46] (p. 91). However, that concurrent application might be problematic and unrealistic due to the unlikelihood of applying same legal principles in situations of peace and those of armed conflict. That problem is attributable to the varied thresholds by which the protective obligations that relate to aspects of humanity in relation to the IHRL treaties such as the CRPD and those of IHL, respectively [47]. Take for example the duty to protect as envisaged by Article 11 of the CRPD, which might be problematic in relative to IHL's principle of proportionality [48]. That principle permits civilian causalities and collateral damage caused by the lawful use of force as long as the force is proportionate to attaining a legitimate military objective [49] (p. 3). It is possible, because of the manner in which those rules of proportionality are used during situations of armed conflict that it becomes likely that life will be lost and thence unlikely that Article 10 of the CRPD can be upheld and enforced at the same standards as those that are envisaged in times of peace. As such, in situations

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 6 of 43

of armed conflict there is a need for enforcement agencies to face the reality by accepting different yardsticks in interpreting and applying the state's obligations to protect or promote some rights such as disability rights in the context of this paper [50].

In spite of those criticisms, in terms of improving the protection of persons with disabilities the overlaps in the duties imposed by IHL and IHRL might become essential in justifying the role of IHRL instruments such as the CRPD when influencing and subsequently improving the IHL's protection to persons with disabilities. In that context, the overlapping attributes of the CRPD in particular are of instrumental value in advancing the need for equal humanitarian protection through encouraging dignified treatment to all non-combatants. For the purposes of this study, a tangential issue might be analyzing whether the CRPD can promote equal access to humanitarian protection between non-combatants with disabilities on the one hand and combatants with disabilities on the other [1,51] Article 1(1) does not discriminate regardless of their classification in IHL that are no longer taking part in armed hostilities, most probably due to war-related disabilities [52].

That argument is based on the view that individuals with disabilities (whether classified as combatants or non-combatants) might be prone to a higher risk of suffering from instances of armed violence than individuals of the same sex or age group without disabilities, if exposed to the same armed conflict [53] (p. 14, paragraph 25). Therefore, this study argues that relying on some of the protective entitlements as provided by the CRPD regime might assist in justifying the need to revisit the extent of legal protection that IHL affords to persons with disabilities. Fortunately, the CRPD is among those IHRL treaties that explicitly remind state parties of their protective obligations to persons with disabilities during times of armed conflict [54] CRPD's approach is worth contrasting with other human rights treaties that permit state parties to derogate from some of their obligations during times of armed conflict.

2.3. Specialised Treaties: Duty to Protect in Armed Conflicts

Chronologically, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) and Convention against Racial Discrimination (CERD) are among the earliest examples of specialised treaties that sought to protect the rights of women and racial minorities, respectively [55] (Article 3). Those two treaties on the rights of specified groups can be considered in relation to the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) and the Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities in [56] Article 38 (4), [1] Article 11 respectively.

In spite of the CEDAW, CERD, CRC and CRPD all providing for the rights of specific groups, the CRC and the CRPD exhibit a common characteristic of providing for their continued application in times of armed conflict [56]. In contrast, there are derogation provisions in the event of armed conflicts for treaties such as the ECHR Article 52 and ICCPR [57,58]. Article 2 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (hereafter CERD) obliges state parties to undertake feasible measures to protect to children if faced with situations of armed conflict [59]. Similarly, Article 11 of the CRPD also requires that relevant IHL and human rights must be applied simultaneously to protect persons with disabilities in situations of armed conflict [60]. It is worth restating that the duty under Articles 11 of CRPD and 38(4) of CRC is subject to the usual reservations and declarations whose disadvantageous impacts on the protectiveness of state duties are contained in subsequent sections of this study [3,7,61]. The CRC and CRPD portray a common trend for supporting the continuity of the state's duties to protect human rights even in situations of armed conflict. Perhaps that trend is attributable to increasing awareness and a better understanding that these special groups of people are more prone to instances of violence during situations of armed conflict and, thus, their rights are usually violated in the event of an armed conflict.

2.4. CRPD's Social Model, IHL's Medical Model during Armed Conflicts

It is worth recalling that the Introduction of this paper has already given a brief account of some theoretical differences in the models and approaches to disability which are underlying the

conceptualisation or composition of environments causing disabling experiences, thus informing in different ways the obligations owed to persons with disabilities under the CRPD and treaties of IHL. The armed conflict and its disabling relationship could be one of the factors accounting for the above conceptual differences that also depict a varied understanding of disability protection under the obligations of IHRL in relation to those of the CRPD: namely, the medical and charity model in IHL and the social model in IHRL [62] (p. 439). Ultimately, those models account for the contrasts in the legal nature of obligations owed to persons with disabilities under the instruments of IHL and the CRPD.

The fact that IHL and the CRPD have different models of perceiving disabilities might partly account for some of the complexities and challenges that are presently encountered by states experiencing situations of armed conflict [62] (paragraphs 9–10). There is a need to reach a universal understanding in the perception of the threshold of legal protection rendered to persons with disabilities where state actors are applying their obligations to regimes of human protection in relation to armed conflict states and states undergoing effective occupation [63]. Therefore, the underpinning of the medical model of disability in public laws that are conventionally most suited to states of "jus in bellum" must help in appreciating the significance of armed conflict-disabling trends in shaping the disability-related obligations of state and non-state actors across the spectrum of "jus ad bellum", "jus in bello" and "jus post bellum". Such a perspective is important for analysing the role of protective obligations under international disability law that are tailor-made for solving the varied trend of problems when it comes to persons with disabilities before, during and after situations of armed conflict [9,64].

In analysing the problem of disabled people and their protection during armed conflicts, the different models of disability under the CRPD and instruments of IHL were found to be one of the causes of the complications in the first year of this project to comprehend diversity existing among disabilities and different categories of persons with disabilities that might arise in post conflict contexts because of the impacts from armed conflicts [65] (p. 135). Moreover, observations regarding the impacts and implications of those different models became even more authoritative after Hart et al." made similar observations in their work (2014) [14,66]. Subsequent to the CRPD, one conventional approach to disability was the 'medical model', which views persons with disabilities through an inward-looking approach in terms of their medical profile and medical needs. The charity model that portrays persons with disabilities as recipients of welfare and passive protection. In which case under both of those approaches, persons with disabilities are disempowered objects of treatment and protection [14,67].

Those different models of disability that are exhibited by the relevant instruments of IHL and the CRPD tend to affect variably how the two regimes of international law define who is entitled to legal protection, why they must be protected and, most importantly, how that protection must be applied during armed conflicts.

Secondly, differences in IHL and the CRPD's models of disability are the sole cause of the inadequacy in the protection of individuals with disabilities, without acknowledging the contribution of other factors such as the different periods in which the relevant IHL and IHRL international instruments came into place. It is, therefore, unsurprising that Hart et al. have partly attributed the differences in treaties of IHL and IHRL to the growing popularity of a social disability model [68], hence enabling approaches of a social model of disability to attract comparably more support than at the time the CRPD was pronounced in 2008, while leaving the 1944 and 1970 treaty sources from IHL stuck in a legal history that conceptualises disability upon medical and individual models that are much older than the former. In that context, the understanding of disability according to IHL instruments such as Additional Protocol 1 dates back to 1977, while the current definition of disability and major disability civil movements developed in the 1990s and never became part of international law until after the year 2000 [69]. Nonetheless, for the purposes of enhancing the protection afforded to persons with disabilities, it might be necessary to consider the role of the CRPD in interpreting

and understanding IHL's exclusion of disabled individuals by practitioners, experts, students and policymakers. Such consideration would be vital, since the CRPD remains the most recent of all the human rights treaties for the protection of special groups. Thus, the Convention brings with it a new perspective that adds positive attributes to aspects of disability.

"The CRPD reorients and transforms the protections offered [to persons with disabilities] through IHL by casting them in the language of 'rights'" [14,70].

In situations of armed conflict, those obligations under the CRPD, interestingly draw upon the legal framework of IHL's protective duties imposed on states and non-state actors. This is in spite of some research suggesting a likelihood of divergence in models upon which duties of IHL treaty and of human treaty bodies in representing the extent of protection owed to persons with disabilitiesCRPD Article 26. Treaties of IHL continue to maintain the inward-looking approaches of the medical/individual, while treaties of most human treaty bodies are increasingly tending towards the outward-looking approaches of conceptualising disability and disabling aspects.

Furthermore, some commentators contend that IHL's perspective and protective obligations are structured on the paradigm of the physical need to treat and take caring of bodies with disabilities rather than instilling a legal tradition based on receptiveness and respectfulness of the humanity and the dignity of persons with disabilities.

Perhaps IHL's objective of minimising the disabling and devastating nature of armed conflict environments could also account for its tendency to draw the underpinnings of its duties from the inward-looking approach of the medical model. That could also explain why IHL and the underpinning of its protective disability-related duties have generated criticism because of the mainstream generalised minimalist protection to persons with disabilities In that case, individuals and especially those with war-related disabilities can be termed as the injured or the wounded and probably identified as patients. That pattern of equating every person with disabilities to an injured patient might, in itself, be problematic and somehow misleading for the following reasons:

- (i) It portrays obligations under treaties of IHL as a legal regime of public law that are founded on assumptions of outdated welfare-centred models, partly because of the models and inward-looking approach of IHL tending to create an impression that the problems of protecting persons with disabilities are only resolvable through provision of physical attention [71]. In which case the rules [of IHL] are directed towards addressing the need for rendering either medical treatment or physical protection. In situations of armed conflict, where law and safety are deemed scarce while the minimalist framework under contemporary IHL rules seems unlikely to sufficiently prioritize the interests of persons with disabilities [72].
- (ii) The pattern also appears to mislead the agenda of protecting persons with disabilities by emphasising the complexity of problems that persons with disabilities are likely to experience due to the causal impacts of the armed conflict—disability relationship [73] that are meant to subsist across the sequence of the "jus ad bellum", "jus in bello", "jus post bellum" cycle.
- (iii) The pattern seems to be distracting legal scholars from establishing if there is compatibility the between the models of disability and the laws stipulating obligations that parties must apply within armed conflict and post-conflict states that are affected by the armed conflict–disability relationship that remains inescapable from the "jus ad bellum", "jus in bello", "jus post bellum" cycle [74].

It is doubtful that such assumptions associated with the medical model of IHL treaty obligations are bound to portray it as a legal regime that is incapable of extending ideas of dignified treatment or the enjoyment of equal protection of ([71], [75] (pp. 220–225)), to the persons with disabilities, particularly in relation to activities that transpire during an armed conflict. Such activities encompass the inclusion of the disabled in peacebuilding, resettlement and rehabilitation forums. In essence, IHL's view of disability is in some respects contrary to the norms of equality in respecting the humanity,

dignity and integrity of persons with disabilities. In spite of the above norms being fundamental in realising the obligations of the disability treaty, such contradictions compromise the dignity and integrity of persons with disabilities by denying them explicit inclusion on IHL's list of persons entitled to special protection in situations of armed conflict [76] (paragraph 25).

Furthermore, the lack of awareness that IHL treaties have in relation to persons with disabilities in relation to equal human dignity might be attributable to the fact that the process of identifying persons with disabilities as another vulnerable and marginalised group began gaining a platform in the early 1990s [77] whereas a substantial part of IHL's present instruments that consider issues of disability such as the Geneva Conventions and their Additional Protocols [78–80] had developed by 1945 and 1977, respectively, a period long before the marginalisation and vulnerability of persons with disabilities had become officially recognized under international law.

Arguably, previous perspectives of disability might have influenced the current legal regime of IHL and its entire conceptualisation of disabilities, as noted by Hart et al. [14,79] Hart, Crock and McCallum's work attracts criticisms for affirming IHL has an outdated inward-looking medical model of dealing with disability ([81], [82] (pp. 7–10)) The commentators advocate for IHL's model of protection by highlighting IHL as sufficient, although without sufficient scrutiny of how the sole reliance on the medical model may lead to insufficiencies in the protection afforded to persons with disabilities [83]. It is on that basis that the present research differs from the work of Hart, Crock and McCallum by adopting a different approach to analyzing the problems of persons with disabilities. The analysis involves identifying the legal implications of inconsistencies on theoretical underpinnings of the models, as used by the two these two branches of public law. With specific reference to the obligations under CRPD and relevant Geneva laws of armed conflicts [84] (Article 68).

Additionally the research observes that the inconsistencies in IHL and the CRPD might compromise IHL's ability to strengthen the protection afforded by other fields of international law as mentioned in Article 11 of the CRPD. This, study therefore, contends that IHL's limitations may necessitate respecting AP4 aimed at adding persons with disabilities to IHL's list of persons that must be afforded special protection [85]. Moreover, the concurrent application of IHL and the CRPD obligations might be equally problematic since the CRPD's definition of disability is irreconcilable with its perception under the instruments of IHL, as explored further in the subsequent section.

3. Varied Standards of Protecti on in IHRL and IHL

3.1. Right to Life in Situations of Armed Conflics

Before proceeding with this right Additional Protocol 1 Article 51(5) (b) and 57(2) (a) (iii) and (b) [86], it is imperative to note that human rights law has a different standard of protecting the right to life in relation to that of IHL [47,87]. In the context of IHL, treaties the parties that are engaged in armed conflict are permitted to use potentially deadly force as long as those parties are compliant with the rules of proportionality ([88], [22] (8 Article)). Arguably, in those circumstances collateral damage and loss of life are likely to result from that use of such force. The legality of that force is based on targeting a definite military objective. There are varied standards of protecting to the right to life in situations of armed conflict. For example, it is purely on the basis of IHL's combatant–non-combatant classification that the lawfulness of an individual's death and their entitlement to civilian or combatant protection is determined 8. Accordingly, if a person with disabilities is classified as a combatant rather than a non-combatant they can be a legitimate military objective and, hence, could be lawfully targeted [89]. In practice, in some cases it is hard to secure and preserve evidence to ascertain whether the targeted item was a military objective.

The permissible exceptions under IHL about collateral damage are unlikely to be construed at the same magnitude if perceived through the prism of IHRL [88–90]. The unlikelihood of reconciling this exists even for IHRL treaties like the CRPD that lack provisions for derogations in times of armed conflict. Bu contrast, IHRL treaties such as the ECHR and the ICCPR have exceptional considerations

for state parties to derogate from some of the stringent human rights obligations in the event of emergencies considering the likelihood of instances where some of the persons with disabilities have taken part in active combat against their States or other opponent States [91,92]. Consequently, in terms of the extent of protecting the right to life, there are purely divergent positions between IHL and the CRPD. That divergence results from the variances in ascertaining the expected level of protection of the right to life, especially if both IHRL and IHL apply to situations of armed conflict [93] (p. 47).

Perhaps the absence of a derogation clause under the CRPD could support the above view. Instead, the CRPD has Article 11 that reiterates the concurrent application of its protection with IHL during situations of armed conflict [94]. Accordingly, the protective measures for supporting the respectful and dignified treatment of persons with disabilities must remain in force even in times of armed conflict. The CRPD approaches these problems in terms of controversial rights such as the right to life, as discussed further.

3.2. The Right to Life in the Context of IHRL

In the context of human rights, the constituents of the "right to life" have been described as: "a supreme right", "one of the most important rights", the foundation and the cornerstone of other rights", the "prerequisite of other rights" [95], "one of the rights that constitute the irreducible core of human rights" [96] and even more so, "a right which is basic to all other rights", but, at the same time, intangible in scope and indeed difficult to define with precision.

The earliest recognition of the right to life appears in the Magna Carta [97]. A number of other human rights instruments have codified the right to life. For instance, the Universal Declaration on Human Rights (UDHR) and the ICCPR. Additionally, several regional human rights instruments also provide for the right to life. Examples of such regional human rights instruments include: the ECHR Article 2(2) [98], the American Convention on Human Rights [99] and the African Convention on Human and People's Rights (ACHPR) [100]. The most important for the purposes of this study is the CRPD, which has rightly stipulated the right to life under its Article 10, stating:

"States parties reaffirm that every human being has the inherent right to life and shall take all necessary measures to ensure its effective enjoyment by persons with disabilities on an equal basis with others" [1] (Article 10).

3.3. The Right to Life in the CRPD: Armed Conflict (Articles 10 and 11)

As mentioned earlier, according to the *travaux preparatoires* of the CRPD, that Article 11 should refer to armed conflicts in the context of protecting persons with disabilities was suggested by Costa Rica following an ongoing the debate on the right to life [101,102].

It is imperative to highlight that by Article 11 of the CRPD referring to obligations arising from IHL and IHRL during armed conflicts,

"[...] in accordance with their obligations under international law, including international humanitarian law and international human rights law, all necessary measures to [...]" [1] (Article 10).

That combined reference to IHL and IHRL illuminates a scenario in which the overlaps in the protection of humanity alongside the contradictions from the varied thresholds of protection can lead to interpretative difficulties as courts interchangeably refer to both IHL and aspects of IHRLs in resolving legal issues related to problems of armed conflict as seen in the ICJ's decision [103]. There are authoritative decisions from the ICJ in its advisory opinions on the use of nuclear weapons that suggest that the position taken in IHRL and IHL varies regarding the extent to which the right to protect life should extend in situations of armed conflict.

"The Court observes that the protection of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights does not cease in times of war, except by operation of Article 4 of the Covenant

whereby certain provisions may be derogated from in a time of national emergency. Respect for the right to life is not, however, such a provision. In principle, the right not arbitrarily to be deprived of one's life applies also in hostilities" [35,104].

Those complications caused by the varied standards of protection are mentioned earlier in the previous sections of this paper. In this regard, the protection afforded to the right to life during armed conflict can be highly controversial [105]. It seems the idea of human rights is reinstating the concept of non-derogation by condemning arbitrary violence. The efforts to condemn arbitrariness and violence illuminates the way in which IHRL might influence the interpretation of the right to life as well as informing expertise in IHL that the right to life must be observed so as to protect vulnerable groups in times of armed conflict [106].

However, in practice, death rates that have hardly spared these protected groups in times of armed conflicts might be a ground for questioning the suitability of human rights-centred approaches that would expect the right to life to be protected at the same standards in times of armed conflict and in times of peace whenever IHL and IHRL are concurrent. A strict interpretation of IHRL treaties such as the CRPD without considerable flexibility towards the changed and challenging nature of armed conflicts might risk placing the threshold of the expected protection too high and make it irrational to reconcile it with principles of IHL regulating the conduct of armed hostilities [2,107].

Despite the above criticism, it remains true that in most of the decisions made by the European Court of Human Rights [108] illustrate that the overlaps in IHRL and IHL are likely to have influenced the ECHtR [42,109]. That influence has led to courts referring to IHRL as the preferred source of law when interpreting the state's obligations in situations of armed conflict. Those trends may come with a cost of setting the expected yardstick of the protection too high in times of armed conflict, or even of exaggerating the extent of human rights duties that an occupying power can afford to enforce.

3.4. Right to Life for Persons with Communication Disabilities in Armed Conflicts

Visual, hearing and speech impairments are basic examples of communication disabilities [110]. According to the analysis of this paper 'communication disabilities' must be understood as those disabilities which arise from the tendencies of the public and its establishments to either knowingly or unknowingly refuse to communicate in languages that persons with disabilities are able to understand. Consequently denying them an opportunity of receiving messages or even failing to interpret and understand them [111] In light of the above, there is a high likelihood that persons with disabilities will experience even more vulnerability than other special groups during armed conflicts, especially because of exclusionary communication environments whose tendencies are to make them physically invisible by refusing to communicate with them.

Evidence to illustrate the vulnerability of persons with communication disabilities also appeared in the news following the armed conflict in Kosovo [112]. A deaf Albanian is alleged to have been killed during the Kosovo armed conflict in 1999. It is alleged from the reports that his death was partly attributed to his refusal of salute the armed forces. His failure to comply was a result of his inability to understand the verbal instructions because of his deafness. It is also reported that his wife, in spite of her deafness and their children, was able to survive and is the source of the reported account.

It is imperative to clarify it is increasingly unlikely that IHL will abandon its medical model of rendering protection instantly. However, it is worthwhile suggesting that the challenges of conflicted and post-conflict states tend to justify the need to maintain the medical model, and where needs be the above model might occasionally benefit from the positive attributes that the CRPD obtains from conceptual underpinnings of the social model and its outward-looking approach to the origins of disability [113]. Such complementarity should be aimed at a goal of minimising the inhumane and undignified treatment of persons with disabilities [114]. Such undignified treatment is a likely outcome of IHL's medical model [115], which tends unacceptably to reduce the interests of persons with disabilities to dehumanising medication and physical care [116]. In that case, the positive attributes of the CRPD would require that humanitarian services ought to be delivered in an inclusive manner

that acknowledges the interests of persons with disabilities [117]. Such acknowledgement would also imply the rethinking of measures of proactive protection that are specifically suitable for persons with disabilities in armed conflicts [118]. Those measures might be framed easily upon the theoretical framework of the social model that is more relevant in ensuring that persons with disabilities are treated with equal humanity and dignity like other human beings [119].

4. Reconciling IHL with Modern Disability

4.1. Definition of Disabilities and Persons with Disabilities (CRPD)

Traustadottir points out that defining disability has been a contentious issue in disability studies and related fields. Nevertheless, for the purposes of this study the definition given by the CRPD shall be used, according to which [1] (Article 1(2)),

"Persons with disabilities' include those [with] long-term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory impairments which in interaction with various barriers may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others" [1,120].

It is imperative to restate that the above definition constitutes a hybrid concept of the inward-looking medical approach and outward-looking approach of the social model. However, historically treaties of IHL only relied on the former rather than the latter that had barely emerged [121–123]. Although the outward-looking approach of the social model might have a role to play in addressing issues of disability inclusion and participation within settings of armed conflict and post-conflict states, neither should the centrality of relying on the medical model and its inward-looking approach must be overlooked or underestimated, given the disabling nature of armed conflict in the above states. Perhaps IHL's overreliance on the medical model is more than just a historical manifestation of legal exclusion, since the underpinning of that model seems useful to addressing the disabling nature and impacts of armed conflicts [11,16,124]. Of course this argument is neither a defence of IHL's shortcomings nor a dismissive attempt to propose where it ought to emulate CRPD by extending the application of the outward-looking approach and models to armed conflict and post-conflicts state but should be limited to instances when such efforts are deemed appropriate.

Bearing in mind that expressions are likely to affect obligations under international law [125], the CRPD's approach to disability marks a landmark change from using "disability" alone to one that joins it with the expression "persons "as per Articles, 2, 3(d) 4 of CRPD (1). That change is of fundamental importance in the present context for the following reasons: firstly, the change signifies that the CRPD's language makes individuals with disabilities constitute a recognisable group of people identifiable from their disabilities while in post conflict context such recognition and identity seem to be over shadowed by more emphasis on the presence of war related disabilities that might be consequential to the collateral damage often associable with armed conflict related wounding [126–130] (paragraphs 23, 58). Furthermore, the CRPD represents "persons with disabilities" in a language that addresses them as human beings as opposed to the dehumanising perspectives of equating them as infirm and as disabled, helpless objects. It is worth bearing in mind that the appropriateness of referring to "persons with disabilities" has also been criticised by proponents contending that it embodies attributes of the medical model [128,131]. This draws attention to unsettled controversies surrounding the aspect of suitable references.

In spite of the above controversy, the expression "persons" as used by the CRPD could illuminate the need to prioritize the personal identity, integrity and dignity of individuals with disabilities rather than expressions that emphasize references to them by their disabilities. Perhaps those elements of identity, integrity and dignity may partly explain why the CRPD refers to "persons with disabilities" rather than disabled people [132]. Accordingly, persons with disabilities must enjoy equal protection to human rights and equal respect for their human dignity both in times of peace and in situations of armed conflict [1] CRPD Article 11.

By contrast, the IHL approach to disability is another fundamental aspect of this study. That requires analysing IHL's definition and characterisation of disability. In that context, there is a tendency for IHL treaties that refer to "disability" but without explicitly referring to "persons with disabilities" as an identifiable group of people in the same or similar context to the manner in which they are represented under the CRPD.

Take for instance Article 8 (a) Additional Protocol I (API) that states;

"Wounded and sick means persons, whether military or civilian, who, because of trauma, disease or other physical or mental disorder or disability, are in need of medical assistance or care [...]".

This quote reflects a problem that the term disability is not just used to cover what disables someone, whether the body or society or both, but also with the meaning of impairment, disorder and disease as in a deviant form from expectations and norms of bodily ability.

Moreover, many disabilities are not necessarily a result of sicknesses or injuries, bearing in mind that some of them have been attributed to weight [133], age [134] or even genetically inherited factors such as muscular dystrophy [135].

In other cases, IHL's framework continues to perceive persons with disabilities as the "disabled" instead of "persons with disabilities" [136–138]. Accordingly, the treaty sources of IHL are nearly insufficient in representing persons with disabilities as part of the special and vulnerable groups of people that are exposed to higher chances and challenges of abuse during or after times of armed conflict [53,76,139] in spite of evidence of such challenges that has continuously appeared in news reports [140]. Conceivably, by including persons with disabilities on IHL's list of individuals entitled to special protection that evidence can be used [141].

Another aspect peculiar to the disability approach in IHL is the trend of framing obligations owed to persons with disabilities based on the influences of civilian–combatant related categorization [142]. Evidence of such obligations is illustrated under Article 68 of Geneva Convention III in which it is stated that,

"Any claim by a prisoner of war for compensation in respect of any injury or other disability arising out of work shall be referred to the Power on which he depends [...]" [140–143].

Thus, in the context of IHL treaties, there are surely ambiguities in relation to disabilities due to the lack of definitive clarity as to who are "persons with disabilities", in situations of armed conflict [23,144].

This study appreciates the importance of exploring the link between disability and considerations of jus post bellum obligations for post-conflict states. That could imply extending human rights obligations in bridging the above gaps. That is simply because persons with disabilities are either unrepresented or inappropriately represented in IHL in relation to the CRPD. Those ambiguities make persons with disabilities feature as inaccurately represented in treaties of IHL [145]. As such, it is doubtful and perhaps misleading to assume that earlier IHL treaties had envisaged "persons with disabilities" would ever constitute a distinctive and vulnerable group of individuals that must be afforded special protection. In fairness, there are traces of evidence suggesting that the Convention on Cluster Munitions is apparently the IHL treaty that acknowledges persons with disabilities as a distinctive group that has been identifiable with rights under the CRPD. As such, where most IHL treaties are attempting to protect "persons with disabilities", they are doing so using an outmoded and inappropriate approach.

4.2. Absence of a Definition of Disability in IHL

Firstly, the CRPD definition and provisions use the term disabilities in the pluralist sense rather than disability in its singular form, as it appears to be often used under IHL [1] Article 1 [146]. Defining disabilities in a pluralist sense could show the benefits of inclusiveness by acknowledging

the diversity that persons with disabilities appear to exhibit [147]. The approach of inclusive pluralism and diversity of disability is likely to imply that the standards of protection rendered to persons with disabilities should neither differ nor deteriorate based on variances in the circumstances causing the disabilities. In that case, an inclusive definition could imply that states and non-state actors involved in situations of armed conflict should refrain from having a narrow-minded perspective of the protection they owe to persons with disabilities, especially during and after situations of armed conflict [148]. Firstly, the narrow-minded perspective of the disability protection in the jus post bellum context might result in measures that seek to afford greater emphasis on persons with physical disabilities while overlooking persons with mental disabilities. Secondly, outcomes of a casual discriminative tendency is another likely consequence of the above narrow-minded perspective in terms of the scope and standard of protection in the jus post bellum context of many post-conflict states, whereby jus post bellum concerns of disability might result from the high likelihood of post-conflict states rendering preferential treatment to persons with war-related disabilities over persons whose disabilities are without a war-related connection, perhaps because of identifying and associating their identity with war-related disabilities. It is highly probable that the CRPD is unlikely be the best source of jus post bellum law on disability, especially in post-conflict cases where states are practising intersectionality in providing and protecting those rights. Such intersectionality can lead to tendencies of divisive fractions and discriminative trends towards persons with disabilities during and after situations of armed conflict [149]. One must bear in mind according to the protection rendered under the CRPD this seems founded on assumptions that appear to have underestimated the effects of armed conflict-disabling environments on conceptualisations of homogeneity and diversity in relation to post-conflict states. Disability ought to be revisited as a jus post bellum concept given the uniqueness of challenges likely to arise in relation to protecting persons with disabilities in such states. Post-conflict states should consider ways of safeguarding against tendencies that promote narrow-minded perspectives of fractionalising the protection afforded during and after situations envisaged under Article 11 of the CRPD in order to be universal than causal-centred or type-centred. Causal-centered state actors tend to vary their level of responsiveness depending on whether or not a person's disability is identifiable as war-related in nature. Similarly, post-conflict states tend to show lesser protective interest in disability in combatants with war-related disabilities as compared to combatants with war-related disabilities [23,150].

Additionally for purposes of streamlining disability and its obligations under these fields of public international law, having similar approaches to disability remains an area of law that IHL and the CRPD might need to address for future complementarity between IHRL and IHL [9]. Certainly, the research foresees a need for complementarity in defining disability as part of the solutions to the problems facing persons with disabilities during and after armed conflicts.

Additionally by improving its clarity on the protections of persons with disabilities, IHL will place persons with disabilities in a better position to enjoy the protection envisaged by the CRPD Article 11 [1,151]. In that context, there might be a need to investigate whether IHL treaty sources emulate the CRPD's conceptualisation of disabilities whereby aspects of disability are conceivably one of those jus post bellum subjects likely to arise in post-conflict states, in spite of several protagonists in disability studies suggesting that the conceptualisation of disability under the CRPD is more inclusive than that of IHL treaty sources in including persons with different types of disabilities [1] (Article 1 paragraph 2) regardless of the variances in situation in which those disabilities might have been caused [152]. Such comprehensiveness is instrumentally essential in ensuring that persons with mental, physical and intellectual disabilities are all considered in planning protective and humanitarian measures in situations of armed conflict.

By comparing divergent approaches in conceptualisations of disability that subsist between the CRPD and Geneva treaties as well as protocols of IHL, it must be possible to identify likely implications of such divergent approaches in terms of limitations that are subsequently addressed. Perhaps because IHL regulates armed conflicts that are conceived to be part of potentially disabling situations, the legal

regime has in many respects maintained an outdated pattern of portraying disability as a dangerous outcome that arises from amputations, bodily injuries and other infirmities under Article 30 of Geneva Convention 11 and Rule 138 of IHL [74,153]. That pattern permeates the legal framework of IHL treaties referring to disability in terms of their obligations. Such a pattern is in evidence in obligations concerning the prioritisation of certain detainees such as detainees with war-related disabilities who might be repatriated first during an armed conflict not because they are persons with disabilities but because they are injured, wounded or have undergone amputations Articles 109–117 [56,154]. Moreover, the reasons underlying the assumptions for IHL's protection might contradict those of the CRPD, whereby CRPD is founded upon an underpinning subjecting people with disabilities to equal rather than inferior treatment [155]. Ultimately, whenever applied in situations of armed conflict, Article 11 of the CRPD seeks to ensure that disabled individuals enjoy the right of equal protection like other non-combatants when experiencing armed conflict regardless of how their disabilities were caused ([14] (p. 11), [156]).

Furthermore, the study also observes that IHL's conceptualisation of disability shows a degree of mismatch in relation to the way disabilities are defined and conceived under the CRPD [157]. For the purposes of improvement, the legal protection afforded to persons with disabilities during armed conflicts is important for ensuring that, wherever possible, IHL's perspective of disability alongside the context of its obligations becomes harmonised with obligations in the CRPD, hence bringing it closer to possible complementarity [158,159]. The harmonisation process will enhance protective overlaps across the above two regimes, and thus a complementary relationship between IHL and the CRPD when dealing with persons with disabilities in times of armed conflict.

Arguably, harmonisation can deal with cases where IHL's conceptualisation of disability-related obligations rule 138 of the ICRC commentary [160], seems restricted to persons (who are either combatants or non-combatants) with disabilities, [161] and whose disabilities are associated with war, infirmity or old age [162–164]. For example, taking disability under Article 8 (a) of API which states that the "wounded and sick means persons, meaning civilian or combatants, with [...] disability and in need of medical assistance or care [...]" [165]. The approach used in the provisions of IHL treaties suggests a narrow perspective of disabilities. Such a perspective is likely to have stemmed from the medical model, although it is misguided if compared with the CRPD's language of disability. Technically, all persons with one or more of the disabilities in Article 1 are entitled to the state's protection under Article 11 [1] Article 1 Paragraph 2 in combination with Article 11 [166].

IHL's perspective on disabilities under rule 138 of the ICRC commentary could be improved by broadening the scope of its disability protection to encompass other forms of disabilities [160,167].

In as much as such the medical model of disability protection remains useful in referring to persons that may have been disabled as a result of armed conflict, it is unlikely to take into account how recent developments have shaped the understandings of disabilities. IHL continues to lack a suitable definition for disabilities, a fact that leads to ambiguities as to whether persons with physical, mental or intellectual disabilities must be protected during and after the occurrence of armed conflicts. Moreover, there is a lack of clarity under the IHL regime in terms of what the obligatory protection of persons with physical, mental or intellectual disabilities should comprise, respectively.

Additionally, in resolving the limitations of IHL's protectiveness to persons with disabilities, it shall be necessary for the legal regime to define disability and try associating it with identifying a group of people [168]. In that context, IHL must acknowledge that disability has changed from meaning a condition to becoming a representative characteristic of a diverse group of individuals. Although that group-based identity has its complexities, it nonetheless remains a useful way of improving IHL's role in affording special protection to persons with disabilities as individuals who might face distinctive problems during times of armed conflicts [169] (p. 95).

In summary, the disparities between IHL and CRPD in the conceptualisation of disability are part of the cause of the inadequacies in the legal protection that is expected to be rendered by states and non-state actors in times of armed conflict. This research argues that reforming IHL's perspective of

disability is long overdue. Such reforms remain crucial to improving the state of protection rendered under IHL, since they would clarify to the parties involved in armed conflicts the entitlements that IHRL treaties, particularly the CRPD, afford to persons with disabilities who must be protected according to Article 11 of the CRPD. It is possible that harmonisation of these two fields of international law might be a central role of Additional Protocol IV (APIV) that was proposed earlier.

5. The Protection of Disability Rights

5.1. The Origins of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

Before the CRPD came into force, there were pre-existing IHRL treaties dating back as far as 1966 pertaining to the duty of the state to respect individual rights under IHRL such as the International Convetion on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICSECR), the Convention Against Torture (CAT) (these apply internationally), European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), African Charter on Human and People's Rights (ACHPR) (these apply regionally), CRC and CEDAW (applied to specific groups such as children and women for the CRC and CEDAW, respectively). Although none of the earlier IHRL treaties was designed in particular to address discriminative tendencies that were encountered by persons with disabilities.

Therefore, until such time as the CRPD ascribed persons with disabilities to constitute a respectable unit of human identity that represented what was a marginalised group, it is evident that IHL was already among those legal regimes of international law that had blamed the problems of persons with disabilities on their infirmity [170], that is, the wounded and injured status of their bodies [171]. That is still in evidence in the way IHL treaties continue to perceive problems of persons with disabilities to be resolvable by supplying them with medicine [172] (p. 303). Conceivably, that perspective of disability has denied impact [173] and, consequently, the continued invisibility and subtle exclusion of persons with disabilities from sufficient protection in times of armed conflicts [53,174].

In other communities, persons with disabilities have been referred to religious leaders to receive spiritual healing [175] it is imperative to note that the approach perceiving individuals with disabilities as subjects for spiritual healing is contrary to embracing them as constituting a part of the human race. Eventually, such stereotypically oriented assumptions may constrain the protection intended by Article 11 of the CRPD.

5.2. International Law on Disability after the 1980s

From the late 1980s, traditionally dehumanising approaches were increasingly challenged and international measures geared towards equal treatment of persons with disabilities were truly being transformed from their formative stages. This remarkable landmark development meant identifying and eliminating those external barriers that led to the social or legal exclusion of persons with disabilities [176]. The *travaux preparatoires* of the CRPD [177,178] suggest the necessity to establish a treaty on the rights of persons with disabilities to improve the protection and treatment [179]. That improvement involved revisiting underpinning of the medical and individual models whose inward-looking approaches had constituted the scope and extent of protection [180].

In the early 1990s, progressive activities towards disabilities led to a reshaping of the rights of people with a disability under the prisms of equality, humanity and personal dignity [181]. It is because of such a growing momentum that by 1992 the General Assembly of the United Nations (GA) adopted the World Programme of Action Concerning Disabled Persons The World Programme of Action eventually drafted the Standard Rules on the Equalisation of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities [182]. Thereafter, the World Programme of Action called upon the GA and the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) during the 37th session to adopt the drafted Standard Rules, which were subsequently adopted in December 1993 [183].

In 2002, another result of this process was the establishment by the UN General Assembly of an ad hoc committee to draft the CRPD [184]. Furthermore, unlike IHL that allowed rebel groups also participating as observers rather than voters, the CRPD was achieved through a consensual process of consultative sessions with various disability movements [181,185]. Because the CRPD was designed as a purely human rights instrument, there is a difference in its composition of consultative sessions from those of IHL. According to the CRPD's *travaux preparatoires* [155,186] negotiations referred to the Security Council resolutions that had identified persons with disabilities as a distinctively distinguishable group that had encountered special problems [187]. On 13 December 2006, the UN General Assembly adopted the CRPD, and its optional protocols eventually entered into force on 3 May 2008. The CRPD remains the first and only international instrument that protects the rights of persons with disabilities.

In terms of the background of the CRPD and its applicability to situations of armed conflict [188], Article 11 explicitly refers to situations of armed conflict and was first proposed by Costa Rica following a discussion on the right to life [189]. There was also a discussion on whether the situations of risks that were envisaged under Article 11 must be specified and exemplified [190]. It is imperative to note the reference to "armed conflict" led to a controversial human rights-based debate due to some members expressing discomfort with the overlap that exist between "armed conflict" and "foreign occupation" [191]. Additionally, in the UN's terms, the term foreign occupation was also a code for the Israel–Palestine conflict [192].

6. Extraterritoriality of CRPD Obligations in Armed Conflicts

The issue of jurisdiction and extraterritoriality is directly linked to the question raised by Crock et al. as to whether the CRPD can protect individuals against violations by a state of which they are not citizens, which is a common risk in international conflicts [178,193]. This discussion envisages an international armed conflict (IAC) or internationalised armed conflicts where two or more CRPD states are involved, thence leading to a situation of belligerent occupation. In that case, extraterritoriality is a viable option, if the state party in question also became party to the CRPD-optional protocol and without making a reservation or declaration under Article 11 of the CRPD. However, this section is apparently affected by the absence of decisions where the CRPD has applied extraterritorially to an armed conflict. Nonetheless, the procedure and its considerations are explained further in the subsequent sub-sections.

6.1. Applicability of the CRPD to Some Situations of Armed Conflict

Before examining the relevant provisions of the CRPD, the primary issue that this research shall deal with here is advancing arguments that support the applicability of the CRPD. Where applicable, the optional protocol (OP) to the CRPD to protect and promote the individual rights of persons with disabilities thus recognizes them as another special category of a vulnerable group during and after situations of armed conflict [194] (p. 219).

As noted earlier, instances of armed conflict have led to instances in which some states have obtained control over weaker states leading to situations termed "belligerent occupation". Acts associated with the violation of individual rights have been rampant in the course of belligerent occupation in as much as international law has continued to struggle to ensure accountability for such human rights violations [195]. As a result, the prevalence of human rights violations in cases of belligerent occupation has necessitated the extraterritorial application of treaties of IHRL as a response to the emergent need of regulating abusive behaviours of states and their representatives or their agencies in times of armed conflict [8,196]. However, in practice there may be procedurally related limitations to enforcing extraterritorial accountability since the availability of factual evidence regarding the state's violations is often fragile, and in other cases difficult to prove [197].

For the purposes of this research, the application of CRPD in situations of armed conflict is based on cases where states and non-state actors are alleged to knowingly target properties of persons with

disabilities or properties supporting their wellbeing during situations of either NIAC or IAC armed conflicts. For instance, such an incident was exemplified by the attack on residential homes used by persons with disabilities during the armed conflict in Lebanon. Similarly, in 2014 Yolande, reporting for the BBC, broadcast Israel's armed forces allegedly attacking a disability centre in the course of the armed conflict with the Palestinians [198]. Moussa reports another incident in Old Aleppo regarding residential facilities for accommodating persons with mental disabilities that were shelled during the course of the armed conflict [199].

Arguably, regardless of the nationality of the disabled individual, the presence of Article 11 of the CRPD ought to be used to make states accountable for either destroying properties or breaching the rights of persons with disabilities.

"State parties shall take, in accordance with their obligations under international law, including international humanitarian law and international human rights law, all necessary measures to ensure the protection and safety of persons with disabilities in situations of risk, including situations of armed conflict, humanitarian emergencies and the occurrence of natural disasters" [200] (Article 11).

Therefore, with increasing cases of armed conflict, extraterritorial accountability of the CRPD would ensure that the practical benefits of Article 11 are enhanced, hence minimising instances where state actors are acting contrary to their disability obligations [8,201]. Similarly, references might be made to role of Article (1) of the OP, which applies in cases where the state concerned is also a party to the OP; its violation of Article 11 of the CRPD can be communicated to the CRPD committee [202], although the eligibility to the CRPD committee's redress is subject to fulfilling the conditions which are outlined in Article 2 of the OP [203].

Furthermore, the presence of the earlier evidence from media reports confirming the special cases in which events of armed conflict have disproportionately affected persons with disabilities may also be another justification for the extraterritorial application of the CRPD in situations of armed conflict. Perhaps the extraterritorial application of the CRPD would strengthen the protection rendered to those individuals with disabilities during armed conflicts. Such accountability must be encouraged even if the disabled individuals whose rights have been contravened are neither nationals of the concerned occupying state [204–206] nor residents in the territory of the occupying state [4,207]. Therefore, the subsequent sections of this research explain how the jurisdiction approach has been useful in ensuring better accountability for acts of human rights violations made by state parties during times of armed conflict [208].

6.2. The Jurisdiction Clause under the Optional Protocols to the CRPD

Firstly, if violations of disability rights result from belligerent occupation by another occupying power, that power being a state party to the CRPD and its OP then Article 1(1) of the OP (subject to fulfilling the conditions provided under Article (2) of the [209] permits sending communications to the CRPD Committee regarding the state's failure to comply with its CRPD obligations as seen in $HM\ v$. $Sweden\ [210]$ For example, if the state violates its obligations enshrined under Article 11 regarding the protection of persons with disabilities [211] Article 1(1) states that,

"A state party to the present protocol ("State Party") recognizes the competence of the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities ("the Committee") to receive and consider communications from or on behalf of individuals or groups of individuals subject to its jurisdiction who claim to be victims of a violation by that state party of the provisions of the Convention" [212].

Clearly, Article 1(1) also permits the communication of petitions individually or in a representative capacity for and on the behalf of individuals with disabilities [213] that are subject to the jurisdiction of the state party [214]. For cases of jurisdiction arising from belligerent occupation, the communication

may not lead to the state party complying with public international laws meant to protect persons with disabilities [215]. Complaints could relate to acts that may require further inquiries into alleged violations of the CRPD in the context of belligerent [216].

It is also imperative to mention the limitations to the Committee that might potentially arise from Article 1(2) of the OP [217]. Article 1(2) of the OP states that the admissibility of all petitions must ensure that the state responsible for the alleged violations is also a party to *both* the CRPD and its OP [218].

"No communication shall be received by the Committee if it concerns a state party to the Convention that is not a party to the present protocol" [219].

Accordingly when communicating a petition concerning a violation of Article 11 of the CRPD, whereby such a violation by an occupying power that is a party to the CRPD rather than its OP [220], a lack of concurrent membership to both disability instruments would detrimentally influence the admissibility of the petition to the CRPD Committee [221]. It appears that Article 1(2) is problematic for two reasons. Firstly, it poses enforcement limitations to the scope of state parties against whom persons with disabilities can apply the approach of extraterritorial jurisdiction in times of belligerent occupation. Article 1(2) can also constrain persons with disabilities from accessing the right to a hearing [222]. A constraint is partly attributable to some of the state parties to the CRPD withholding their membership to the OP [223].

Accordingly, Article 1(1) of OP could deny persons with disabilities room for redress as a majority of the states that are not parties to the OP are the same states that are likely to be in contravention of their CRPD duties in the process of exerting extraterritorial jurisdiction.

6.3. European Convention and Extraterritorial Jurisdiction

The European Court of Human Rights is an example of an enforcement institution which has encouraged a jurisdictional-based extraterritorial accountability for violation of obligations as imposed on state parties on the basis of Article 1, which extends its application wherever a state assumes external territorial control during belligerent occupation [224]. Article 1 of the ECHR also provides that:

"The high contracting parties shall secure to everyone within their jurisdiction the rights and freedoms defined in Section I of this Convention" [225].

The use of "jurisdiction" in Article 1(1) of the OP to the CRPD, therefore [226], might appear to have similar interpretative and enforcement implications as those evidenced in Article 1 of the ECHR, even though evidence from the available cases law suggests that the ECtHR uses the concept of jurisdiction in a broader context than how it is applied according to this research [227]. This study is strictly referring to the ECtHR's jurisdiction-based decisions only in so far as those decisions relate to acts in which states violate their human rights obligations during situations of armed conflicts or belligerent occupation [228].

The ECHR's model might be worth emulating by other regional conventions considering the efficiency of its mechanisms, as evidenced by decisions of the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) in terms of the extraterritorial enforcement of human rights obligations such a practice of referring to extraterritorial jurisdiction to enforce human rights has been exemplified in a number of ECtHR rulings, most of which have held states accountable for the violation of human rights obligations based on spatial jurisdiction during armed conflict [229,230].

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and Jurisdiction in Armed Conflicts

Article 2(1) of the ICCPR has also defined jurisdiction such that state parties are expected to,

"[...] ensure to all individuals within [their] territory and [those] subject to [their] jurisdiction the rights [that are] recognized in the present Covenant [....]" [231] (paragraph 62).

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 20 of 43

In view of the above, it is imperative to note that during the drafting conferences of the ICCPR, the US proposed that the original language of Article 2(1) of the ICCPR be modified in order to require proof that the victims affected by human rights violations were not only subjected to the "state's jurisdiction" but also ascertaining their physical presence "within the state's territory". "State's jurisdiction" refers precisely to the instances of an armed conflict during which State A occupies territory of State B [232]. The study notes that the interpretation of those two phases has stirred controversial debates while applying the ICCPR to the acts of state actors during times of armed conflict [7,233]. However, for the purposes of using the ICCPR for combating the state's acts of armed conflict violence, encouraging the phrase "within their jurisdiction" would be of greater importance in justifying the extraterritorial application of the ICCPR alongside other human rights treaties in cases of belligerent occupation [234]. Moreover, with reference to the ICCPR's legal history, there is evidence from its *travaux preparatoires* that the expression "jurisdiction" was aimed at emulating the approach that had been taken by the ECHR [235].

6.4. The International Court of Justice (ICJ) and Its Reference to Jurisdiction in Situations of Armed Conflict

The ICJ's decisions have also made reference to the extraterritorial nature of human rights treaties in the expression of its support for a jurisdiction-based approach in armed conflicts [236]. For example, the ICJ also confirmed the jurisdictional approach in addressing accountability for human rights violations in times of belligerent occupations as seen in *DRC v Uganda* [237–240]. The case relates to Uganda's occupation of Ituri region in DRC [241,242]. Uganda was found to be in breach of its obligations on human rights in the event of belligerent occupation. The ICJ's advisory opinions and case law on issues of armed conflict are increasingly complementing IHL with sources from IHRL where necessary. Such complementarity would strengthen the legal protection rendered to persons with disabilities. In situations of armed conflict, complementarity in the protection of the CRPD obligations can be particularly in cases where the reliance on IHL seems inadequate. As such, the CRPD might respond to some of the difficulties of persons with disabilities; for example, the limited access to accommodation and health services, among other resources, considering the competitiveness the limited resources in the likely event of displacement [243]. Commentators have further observed that human rights (including rights under the CRPD) are increasingly applicable to parties in situations of armed conflict alongside IHL [243].

6.4.1. Recommendations from the CRPD Committee on Article 11 in Armed Conflict

Similar to earlier recommendations made by human rights committees [244], the CRPD Committee has the same mandate of making instructive recommendations that state parties must respect their obligations even in situations of armed conflict. A classic example of an armed conflict during which a recommendation framed upon that obligation was exemplified during the armed conflict in Syria [245]. This conflict is alleged to have displaced more than two million people by November 2013. According to the latest statistics, the figures of displaced persons and the death toll resulting from the armed conflict in Syria has tremendously increased over recent years. As estimated 200,000 people have lost their lives, with 7.6 million being displaced from their homes to other locations inside the country, while 3.2 million have been registered as refugees fleeing the country [246]. The Syrian crisis is proving to be the world's longest humanitarian disaster. Related to Syrian context, reports from humanitarian organizations rendering conflict and post armed conflict humanitarian services appear unclear as to whether the impacts and experiences of armed conflict occurrences are the same for persons with war related disabilities that are disabled in the course of the armed conflict and persons that are already persons with disabilities prior the occurrence of the armed conflict [247]. "I have been the Chairman of the Chechen Committee of the Red Cross since January 1995. We worked together with the ICRC, taking care of 15,000 elderly and disabled persons in Chechnya... From 1 October 1999 we had to close the food centres since electricity and gas had been cut off, but we continued to bake bread using diesel fuel and to distribute it to 12,000 elderly persons... Starting from 20 October 1999

Grozny came under heavy air bombardment, and on 27 October we stopped all programmes, because it was impossible not just to work, but to stay there. We started to prepare to evacuate, and I informed the ICRC Office in Nalchik [Kabardino-Balkaria] of this fact.

The aforesaid clarity seems important in establishing if the concerns associated with the seemingly varied armed conflict experiences and impacts of the persons with disabilities the above two categories might inform the nature and framing of protection that those humanitarian organizations and post conflict state actors, must have to the diverse populations of persons with disabilities.

In view of the above, it is evident that the armed conflict must have had a devastating impact upon persons with disabilities and on their properties [248]. As a result, during its tenth session, the United Nations Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD Committee) produced a recommendation in which it implored all those concerned to uphold the protection of persons with disabilities. In its recommendation, the Committee mentioned that,

"Syria is a state party to the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities [CRPD]. Article 11 of the Convention says that a state party is obliged under international humanitarian [IHL] and human rights law [IHRL] to take all necessary measures [in order] to ensure the protection and safety of persons with disabilities in situations of risk, including [those of] armed conflict" [249].

The above quotation not only sheds light on what the CRPD Committee envisaged as the role of Article 11, but also shows that the Committee expects state parties to continue complying with their obligations in situations of armed conflict [250] (Paragraph 48).

6.4.2. Extending the Jurisdiction Approach to the CRPD during Belligerent Occupation

Accordingly, the fact that Article 1(1) of the OP to the CRPD uses the same expression of jurisdiction with reference to the state's jurisdiction signifies that in cases where Article 1(1) of the OP is applicable, then the CRPD applies to those situations of armed conflicts. Subsequently, in some cases, individual complaints might be sent and received by the CRPD Committee in the event that the protections afforded by the CRPD are violated, after ascertaining the admissibility considerations of the OP and the CRPD's membership requirements [251].

In summary, there is evidence suggesting that the CRPD's obligations are expected to apply to state actors in times of armed conflict. Its applicability is subject to some conditions, such as the state concerned being a party to the Convention without having made a reservation on the application of the CRPD in situations of armed conflict [252].

In situations of belligerent occupation, where the occupying power is a state party to the CRPD and its OP and it thereafter assumes jurisdiction of another territory, then an individual or representative complaint to the CRPD Committee concerning the violated rights is admissible, subject to fulfilling the conditions under Article 2 of the OP to CRPD. Those conditions include the exhaustion of domestic remedies [253]. The issue of exhausting domestic remedies can pose limitations to receiving immediate redress from human rights committees and other international mechanisms by the victims of armed conflict violence [254]. Details of limitations are analyzed further with more illustrative examples in a subsequent paper dealing with issues of access to justice in the aftermath of armed conflict.

The evidence for supporting the application of the CRPD and its OP can also be convincingly used in arriving at a conclusion that a social model of the CRPD must be used in interpreting the protection for persons with disabilities in situations of armed conflict [7,255]. The social model could also enhance the protection rendered to properties of persons with disabilities [256]. There is still a lacuna in IHL, however, since the CRPD is only meant to apply vertically between the rights of individuals and the acts of states. This makes the CRPD insufficient to apply to situations of armed conflict in which IHL's horizontal relationship would be more appropriate in regulating the actions of both states and non-state actors [31,257], as opposed to solely relying on Article 11 of the CRPD that applies through a

vertical relationship of a state party's obligation to protect its subjects with disabilities within a state's territory or those under its extraterritorial control through belligerent occupation [258].

That said, the need for Additional Protocol IV (APIV) as a vital measure should neither be disregarded nor underestimated [259]. The proposed APIV would embrace the merits of the social disability model and purposely extend those merits to constitute part of the protective obligations imposed on rebel groups, among other non-state actors, to whom the CRPD and its OP obligations can never apply.

6.4.3. Reservations to the Application of the CRPD in Situations of Armed Conflict

The point of reservation declaration made to the application of Article 11 of the CRPD is worth giving some attention to. In analysing the obligations that are imposed on states in armed conflicts to persons with disabilities, it is worth highlighting that those obligations have been impacted by international law on treaty reservations. Law that regulates reservations in the context of international law applies to the obligations that are imposed by Article 11 of the CRPD in the same way that the law has applied to other treaties that are regulated by the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (VCLT) [260].

That international law on reservations as it applies to CRPD obligations is provided under the 1969 VCLT [261], in which case a reservation refers to a unilateral statement made by a state, when signing, ratifying, accepting, approving or acceding to a treaty, in which that state party opts to exclude or modify the legal effect of certain provisions of the treaty in their application to that state [262]. Similar to reservations are declarations according to which states make clarifications and qualifications as to how they will interpret and apply a specific obligation.

Smith notes that reservations could be a symbolic representation of the differences between cultural, religious or pre-existing national legal regimes that subsist within states [263] (p. 66). That might be worth respecting for the obligations to be compatible. By nature, the reservations are contestable and in other cases can be withdrawn after other state parties can express their objections [264]. In cases where a reservation has not been objected to and withdrawn, then it becomes possible for other state parties to sever only the obligation against that reservation and then consider the state as bound by the rest of the human rights treaty.

As far as reservations are concerned, particularly in the context of the CRPD obligations, attention is primarily centred on the reservations and declarations that were made against Article 11 of the CRPD. The government of Mauritius signed the CRPD subject to the reservation that it does not consider itself bound to take measures specified in Article 11 unless Mauritius' domestic legislation expressly provide for the taking of such measures. Azerbaijan also made a declaration that it was unable to guarantee the application of the provisions of the Convention in the territories occupied by the Republic of Armenia until the occupation territories are liberated Article 11of the CRPD [265]. The research shall not delve into the details of this, although it suffices to mention that the Azerbaijan made a declaration about Article 11 of the CRPD. That declaration relates to the Nagorno-Karabakh ongoing border conflict with Armenia [266]. In view of Mauritius' reservation and Azerbaijan's declaration, it is evident that in both cases accountability in respect of the protective obligations under Article 11 of the CRPD is not absolute since that obligation is either subject to the fulfilment or removal of certain conditions [267]. More comprehensive work on problems of reservations in relation to human rights treaties as elaborated by the International Law Commission (ILC) whose details are contained in the Guide to Practice on Reservations to Treaties [268,269]. It is unacceptable for a reservation to defeat the essence of the treaty [270]. In that case, it is worthwhile mentioning that reservations have in some circles emerged as a subject of criticism due to the discontent they might cause in enhancing effective compliance with human rights treaties as noted from ICJ's advisory opinion on reservations against the Genocide Convention [271].

In essence it is unsurprising that some commentators have asserted that the reservations made against human rights provisions (like the CRPD in this study) such as that made by Mauritius

against Article 11 of the CRPD, might occasionally undermine the principles of universality in the enforcement of human rights [272]. Considering the beneficiaries of the individual–state nature of the obligations imposed through that vertical relationships of human rights treaties, the ICCPR Committee's obligations are worth highlighting. That is to say, the VCLT might compromise the benefit of individual rights following the possibility of the contracting party selectively exonerating themselves of certain duties using the VCLT [273,274].

The above criticism becomes more convincing considering that the VCLT's provisions relate to reservations structured upon a paradigm of multilateral treaties between states [275] (p. 161). In essence, unlike the effects of reservations made against human rights treaties [276], the aim of reservations in the context of multilateral treaties protecting the best interests of states parties in relation to those of other member states [277]. It is useful to note that, apart from human rights treaties, obligations from other multilateral treaties are unlikely to affect the interests of third parties.

Moreover, the above problem of reservations is compounded by the ambiguities in the way some of the states try to disguise some of the reservations as declarations. The court points out this controversy in the case of *Belilos v. Switzerland* [278] (paragraphs 49–50).

"The question whether a declaration described as interpretative must be regarded as a reservation is a difficult one, [...] in the instant [...] because the Swiss government [has] made both reservations and interpretative declarations in the same instrument of ratification. [...] Only reservations are mentioned in the Convention, [even though] several states have also or only made interpretative declarations without [...] making a clear distinction between the two [...]" [278,279].

In a practical context, there might be a problem in distinguishing treaty declarations from treaty reservations. That problem of distinctiveness is attributable to state parties dealing with a treaty declaration in the same way they would like to respond to a treaty reservation [263,280].

7. Ideal Disability Rights Practices

7.1. The CRPD Committee and Its Contribution to Ideal Practices

Bearing in mind that the CRPD Committee lacks the power to make binding decisions, it could consider alternative institutions in enhancing implementation of the protection. In that regard, identifying other proactive bodies could contribute to improving the interactions between parties to armed conflicts and the protection of persons with disabilities. The CRPD Committee ought to streamline guidelines for protecting persons with disabilities that must apply to armed conflicts. Preferably, those guidelines can clarify how persons with disabilities must be protected during situations of armed conflict. Additionally, those guidelines would make the Committee contribute to the improvement of IHL through the drafting of Additional Protocol IV.

In terms of influencing national polices, the Committee may recommend CRPD member states better domestic legislation that is similar to section 146 of the UK's Criminal Justice Act [280]. Essentially, that section is part of the protective measures that are used in the UK's domestic laws to protect persons with disabilities. This ideal practice uses criminal law to promote the CRPD by instilling a sense of awareness that dignified treatment must be rendered to persons with disabilities [281]. Section 146 classifies an offence as aggravated and subjects such an offence to a higher criminal sentence, as long as such an offence was committed against a person on the grounds of their disability identity [282]. There is a possibility that even in times of armed conflict, persons with disabilities could face even greater levels of victimisation and, therefore, need greater protection to take into account their vulnerability. For example, it might not only be easier but also safer to rape blind women as compared to women with no visual impairment considering the latter is more likely to recognise the offender or identify the available escape routes than the former [91,283].

In such situations, international bodies ought to request those states demonstrate a higher commitment by persuading them to emulate legislative practices that may have proved more efficient Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 24 of 43

in protecting CRPD rights within other jurisdictions [284]. The emulation of those ideal legislative practices could increase the value attached to aspects of disability awareness in times of peace and in times of armed conflict. Subsequently, this will improve the protection that is afforded to persons with disabilities. That would involve reshaping some of the undesirable attitudes that might be created by IHL's medical- and charity-oriented models, which surround persons with disabilities with a sense of worthlessness and inferiority.

Another ideal practice can be developed from the Marrakesh Treaty [285]. The Marrakesh Treaty refers to an international treaty that permits the translation of copyrighted works to formats that can be accessed by persons with disabilities. This would be helpful for persons with disabilities by encouraging reproduction of accessible formats for IHL-related literature including accessibility of IHL content on the ICRCs' free online database. Accessible formats of IHL treaties are necessary since Article 11 of the CRPD refers to both IHRL and IHL, irrespective of the laws and literature materials of the latter being oriented towards outmoded notions and, thus, too inadequate to promote the dignity and respect of persons with disabilities during armed conflicts.

This suggestion seeks to promote literacy skills among disabled people with a view to creating awareness of the problems that underlie the assumptions of IHL obligations. Through translation, there is a likelihood that persons with disabilities might be knowledgeable about the problems after availing themselves of IHL information in formats that are accessible, readable and understandable by them [286] (p. 737). This ideal practice has a legal backing since such translations are permissible according to the treaty [287]. This initiative is useful in enhancing the abilities of visually impaired persons to access for themselves the sufficiency and extent of protection that IHL renders [286,288]. It is highly probable that after that assessment it might be easier to involve persons with disabilities in supporting APIV, thus improving the position of IHL on disability.

7.2. Non-State Actors and the Sufficiency of the CRPD Obligations

Any discussion related to ideal practices might be inadequate without highlighting ways of sensitising non-state actors to be aware of the protection they ought to provide to persons with disabilities. It must be reiterated that non-state actors are major parties to NIAC and bear duties and rights of combatant's privilege from IHL treaties that are applied to such armed conflicts. Nonetheless, those non-state actors are neither subjects of international law nor bearers of duties under international law from any of the obligations imposed by human rights treaties. That exclusion of non-state actors from such duties includes the lack of responsibility for respecting or complying with obligations under Article 11 of the CRPD.

In consideration of that state-centred nature of human rights treaties, some commentators have been cautious to embrace the increasing application of obligations from human rights treaties to situations of armed conflict. Those proponents attribute their suspicion to the risk of imposing the protective duties during an armed conflict in a state-centred manner while excluding the non-state actors from those duties [288]. Contrarily, reciprocity duties to parties in an armed conflict must be broadly encompassing when it comes to refraining from or undertaking reasonable measures for preventing any person (whether representing a state or a non-state actor) from acts that cause unnecessary suffering and loss of life to protected persons [289].

It has been noted that state-based mechanisms for protective and deterrence measures might be compromised in the event of an armed conflict in which non-state actors have succeeded in overpowering the state machinery within a particular region. Such instances are peculiar to cases of armed conflicts with an element of NIAC in which rebel groups are involved [290–293]. Unless future amendments of IHL are supported through the proposed APIV and, backing up that amendment some of the ideal practices explained above on collaborative arrangements are adopted, it is unlikely that the current legal regime of IHL has what it takes to extend the protection of persons with disabilities in these cases.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 25 of 43

For the purposes of extending that protection envisaged under Article 11 of the CRPD to those rebel groups in situations of NIAC [294], it is essential for the Committee to establish and maintain future collaborative arrangements with non-governmental orgnisations (NGOs) such as Geneva Call, among others. These collaborative arrangements must be aimed at assisting these organisations to include disability issues in some of their future training sessions [295]. In fairness, the relentless efforts made by organisations like Geneva Call deserve special tribute in consideration of the commendable work they have undertaken in training and informing armed rebel groups of their protective obligations under IHL. In fulfilling those commendable endeavours, it is unsurprising that Geneva Call has on many occasions engaged with rebel groups to promote compliance with the protection of vulnerable groups of civilians, although none of its work has been directed to protecting persons with disabilities [296,297]. The research notes that Geneva Call should start to consider persuading those non-state actors to undertake a deed of commitment with respect to the protection of persons with disabilities. This is exemplified in its reports where a formal commitment was made by five armed non-state actors after negotiation for a couple of years [298]. It is remarkable to note that Geneva Call's work culminated in a deed of Commitment for the Prohibition of Sexual Violence in Situations of Armed Conflict and towards the Elimination of Gender Discrimination and Deed of Commitment for the Protection of Children from the Effects of Armed Conflict [299].

This approach of building an awareness of disability-protective obligations through NGOs might yield faster results, partly due to the presence and expertise of NGOs such as Geneva Call, which are already imparting knowledge-based training of IHL obligations to the non-state actors. That training can help better inform these actors about their accountability for the violation of the legal protection that is meant to be rendered to special groups. Moreover, if joint collaborative partnerships are made, these might champion efforts to create new educational materials to improve the ways in which training in IHL portrays disabilities [300].

That measure could create forums for revisiting IHL's content and contexts of disability, considering the outdated teaching upon which the obligations for protecting persons with disabilities are based in IHL. In addition to experts working together to reconcile and complement IHL's teachings on obligations to those with disabilities, and bringing this in line with those of the CRPD, state parties must also be encouraged to cooperate with organisations like Geneva Call in the course of their preparation to train non-state actors, rather than frustrating the efforts of such organisations. Allowing the entry of training associations such as Geneva Call, complying with ceasefire conditions in the event of training, aiding access for the training agencies to the correct the localities of non-state actors by giving them the relevant information and directions where needed, are some of the ways by which a state's cooperation with the training bodies could be demonstrated.

8. Conclusions

There are different perspectives and approaches to disability in most of the IHL treaties in comparison to the CRPD in as far as the recognition, inclusion and protection of persons with disabilities are concerned. The study noted that those inconsistencies are partly attributable to the differences in the levels of popularity that public law has accorded to particular models of disability across the varied time frames within which the framing of treaties for the different legal regimes of public law has occurred, apart from those instruments that have been developed by the CRPD [198,301]. Whereas the inward-looking approach of the medical model and individual models had greater popularity in the course of framing most IHL treaties, such as the four Geneva Conventions of 1949 (in the aftermath of the Second World War) and the 1979 Additional Protocols, the outward-looking approach of the social model has attained considerable popularity from the late 1980, influencing the CRPD and the contemporary underpinnings of other UN treaty systems. The variance in time frames during which treaties of IHL and the CRPD were framed, coupled with the differences in the levels of popularity associated with those models of disability, seem important factors in explaining the present limitations in content and contexts of the scope of obligations of treaties of IHL and IHRL if

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 26 of 43

applied concurrently when protecting persons with disabilities in situations of armed conflict [14,302]. Conventionally, those situations of armed conflict were solely governed by IHL. primarily because of its "lex specialis" and, thus, aimed at regulating the conduct of the parties involved in armed conflict to avoid causing unnecessary suffering to protect and vulnerable groups [23]. IHRL evolved in the aftermath of the Second World War, as already noted, although it was primarily and solely applied to times of peace [14,303].

The research has also noted that the CRPD entered into force shortly after the institutions of IHRL had increasingly changed their conventional trend of restricting the application of the duties enshrined in the then pre-existing human rights treaties to times of peace and thus to permitting their continued application to situations of armed conflict. This paper perceives the continuity in protective obligations as not only signifying a suggestive trend of an overlapping discourse in the objectives of IHRL and IHL [5,19,304] but also understands continuity to be symbolic of importance for the following reasons.

Firstly, in disability contexts that continuity of obligation from treaties of IHRL leads to state actors concurrently applying obligations from IHL alongside those of the treaties from IHRL, thus further raising interesting questions on the standards and objectives of protection from both legal regimes.

Secondly, the above continuity stimulates the use of models of disability as a means of investigating whether a trend of expecting states to concurrently comply with protective obligations from both legal regimes is either complementing, or compromising, the protection that those states are rendering to persons with disabilities in situations of armed conflict [34,37,305] Arguably, in times of armed conflict, the proposed APIV of IHL would cover situations which the CRPD is unlikely to address [270,306], in which case the study has noted the need for complementarity with a view to supporting the implementation of IHRL treaties (such as the CRPD) where IHL is silent or inadequate, and vice versa [307].

Furthermore, the CRPD is not exceptional to the inherent limitations of other treaties of IHRL containing state-centred obligations pertaining to respecting and protecting persons with disabilities [47,308]. Those limitations lead to the lack of mutual reciprocity in terms of compliance considering that state-centred nature of the CRPD's obligations [309]. In that context, state actors are the legitimate subjects under international law, against whom the enforcement of CRPD obligations can be effected as opposed to non-state actors such as rebel groups [3] (p. 7).

The study has, therefore, noted that the state-centred approach undermines the application and, subsequently, the enforcement of the CRPD obligations as envisaged under Article 11 where non-state actors are involved since the behaviour of those non-state actors can be equally detrimental to persons with disabilities, especially in the context of NIAC [261,309]. That problem of the state-centred obligations under the CRPD might be resolved by introducing Additional Protocol IV for imposing the mutually binding obligations to both parties involved in NIAC so as to improve the protection rendered to persons with disabilities. That measure would ensure the presence of a binding instrument to both parties during armed conflict situations [310].

Considering that the CRPD committee has limitations to recommendations [310], it might be necessary where practicable for actions to addressing violations of disability rights through alternative conventions that have developed better enforcement mechanisms than those of the CRPD Committee [311]. Thus, it would be logical for a lawyer representing victims whose CRPD rights were violated to consider two issues. Firstly, whether the occupying power is a member to the ECHR. Secondly, to establish whether the CRPD right that was violated by the state party is also provided under the ECHR. If the responses to both of those questions are affirmative, it might be faster to proceed by lodging the complaint at Strasbourg than through the CRPD Committee for the purposes of better enforcement.

The impacts and implications of reservations and interpretative declarations in relation to Article 11 could be limitations to the application of the CRPD during armed conflicts [263,312]. In that case, it has been identified that the state-centred nature of the CRPD could suffer failures in case a state's machinery loses or lacks effective governance and control over certain parts of its territory due

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 27 of 43

to belligerent occupation [266,313]. This is exemplified well by Azerbaijan declaring its inability to meet its obligations envisaged by Article 11 within the occupied region of Nagorno-Karabakh as a result of the former's lack of effective control over that region [314]. That lack of control is a result of Nagorno-Karabakh being under belligerent occupation by Armenia [315].

The study has also noted how recent years have seen growing momentum on issues of disability. This momentum may have resulted from increased research on the types and causes of disabilities. It is noted that ideas based upon the CRPD's latest approach should constitute a model framework of the APIV upon which parties to armed conflicts perceive their protective obligations to persons with disabilities. Therefore, IHL laws using an approach modelled upon the CRPD could enhance the ways in which the planning and implementation of equal protection is understood and, consequently, alleviate the problems of persons with disabilities in situations of armed conflict.

The research has used ideas from normative humanist concepts such as those related to notions of IHL and IHRL evolved from the legal jurisprudence of postmodern natural scholars that conceive of protection of the value of humanity as a central, overarching pillar upon which the norms of IHL and IHRL derive their rationalization [19,316]. Thus, advancing the argument that tendencies which encourage unequal entitlement to protections against abuses of human dignity by capitalising on the vulnerability of persons with disabilities should be strongly condemned and discouraged. Equal protection must be rendered to all persons including those with disabilities, who deserve indiscriminative entitlement to be protected against the violation of their rights to life based on universal norms of humanity [53,317], especially where their inability to enjoy human dignity and equal respect to life is blamed upon bodily abnormalities rather than IHL's legal inadequacies. The argument has been made that, in some respects, IHL's legal regimes and its medical model of perceiving disabilities might limit the protection to medical care or assistance without obligating the parties concerned to respect the human dignity and life of persons with disabilities [318]. Moreover, in other cases that same medical model excludes some persons with disabilities, especially where they are classed as non-combatants in relation to the 1949 Geneva Conventions and API, which impose protective obligations based on the civilian and combatant dichotomy.

Furthermore, it has been established that the CRPD's definition is more inclusive of the various types and forms of disabilities, whereby the CRPD has been accredited for presenting disability upon the concept of social disablement in relation to all types and forms of disabilities [76,175,319]. Although the instrument remains discredited for its lack of inclusiveness, various types and forms of social disablement that exist alongside the disabling environments in armed conflict experiences [64]. Hence, the study has observed how contemporary trends in the understanding of disabilities have improved in the subsequent period of the CRPD being in force. Thus, IHL's future framework needs to emulate the CRPD by demonstrating awareness and acceptance of the varied forms of disabilities that could exist within civilian populations. Perhaps a related issue could be the protection rendered through the obligations of IHL by highlighting the need to start using the disabling nature of the armed conflict environment within post-conflict societies and state actors affected by armed conflict to appreciate the importance of allowing post-conflict states to have disability-related obligations that are underpinned by the inward-looking approach of the medical model. This is especially so when conceptualising ways in which the impact of the characteristics of the armed conflict-disability relationship might inform regional variances in the causes of disablement. Thus, armed conflict-affected states (in which the obligations of IHL have always applied) and post-conflict states (to which the obligations of IHL may have previously applied) can still greatly benefit from the inward-looking approach given the usefulness of the armed conflict-disability relationship in shaping the changing contents and contexts of disabilities across states or regions whose states are experiencing disability-related discourses of the "jus ad bellum," "jus in bello" and "jus post bellum sequence." A better understanding of disabilities could be a compelling factor in the development of better practices providing more suitable ways of dealing with the varied concerns of persons with disabilities before, during and after situations of armed conflict and disasters or emergency situations [320].

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 28 of 43

Observations and Areas for Future Research

There is a likelihood that the more the customs and treaties of human rights laws are applied in times of armed conflict, the more protective international law might become to the most vulnerable groups if faced with situations of armed conflict [321]. This study recommends, therefore, that as long as a need to strengthen the protection of humanity is necessary, then the application of specialised IHRL treaties such as CRPD should be deemed to constitute one of the inherent aspects of the peremptory norms when resolving the problems of armed conflict. A peremptory norm refers to a long-term tradition or practice of states that has attained a legally compelling force of international law Critics like Christoffersen [7,322], however, highlight that such a trend encouraging the application of IHRL in situations of armed conflict might be inappropriate considering the state-centred orientation of human rights obligations under international law [47,323].

Bearing in mind that some types of armed conflict such as NIACs might be crucial for regulating the activities of non-state actors in international law [324–326], in so far as that criticism sounds well-founded in the context of non-state actors whose acts would need to be regulated by law ([327], [308] (p. 33)). It is unlikely to justify overlooking the improvements in legal protection that could be attained as a result of enforcing human rights treaties for the purposes of enhancing the protection rendered to vulnerable groups who are unprotected, under-protected or inappropriately protected by the IHL regime.

Furthermore, the more the enforcement institutions show a willingness to adopt interpretive trends that encourage the enforcement of human rights obligations on the basis of extraterritorial jurisdiction in relation to the state's affiliated acts of human rights violations, the more those enforcement institutions are likely to increase the means of strengthening the accountability of state parties that are engaged in NIAC or IAC during which that state's representatives are neither protecting nor respecting fundamental rights. Some of those fundamental rights are engraved in the CRPD [1,328]. Therefore, for the purposes of encouraging a more extraterritorial approach in enforcing the protection of rights, including disability rights, the study recommends that enforcement bodies must be supportive of the implementation of individual rights for special groups based on jurisdictional control [3,38,329].

Furthermore there are articles that, instead of permitting the state parties to derogate, unlike human rights treaties such as the CRPD and CRC [56,330], provide for the continued imposition of human rights obligations [1] Article 11. There is a need for enforcement agencies to develop interpretative models that would ensure that treaty obligations are continuously respected by the state parties concerned in times of armed conflict and especially in the event of belligerent occupation [331]. Nonetheless, the limitation that human rights obligations are hardly enforceable in respect to rebel groups continues to apply.

Additionally, this research has noted that expressions of language have a role to play in shaping obligations under public international law [127,332]. Moreover, the language in which disability is explained and its obligations are expressed in the CRPD remains largely incompatible with the way it is currently understood under IHL [9]. According to the CRPD, "disability" is usually referred to in conjunction with the expression "persons with", hence the phrase "persons with disabilities". In contrast with the context of IHL, it has been noted here that "disability" is portrayed as a kind of abnormal bodily condition, and perhaps that explains why IHL finds no justification in combining disabilities "with persons" [160,333]. That incompatibility depicts some degree of inconsistency in the way the two fields of public international law perceive and understand issues of disability and eventually the impact on the conceptualisations of the legal obligations that arise. It has been observed during the study that difference constitutes a substantial part of the problem. In IHL, persons with disabilities are not understood as persons with rights but as sickly patients or elderly individuals with dreadful bodily limitations, physical infirmities or mental disorders.

Additionally, apart from the preamble of the Convention on Cluster Munitions [198,334] there is hardly sufficient evidence under most treaties of IHL to suggest that persons with disabilities are an

identified group of persons that ought to be included on the list of persons deserving special protection during armed conflicts. That exclusion of persons with disabilities from the list of vulnerable groups could be attributable to perceiving disability through the prism of either combatants or non-combatants who have been injured [251,335]. Theinjured. The presumed conditions of injuries and war-related disabilities are misleading, since they restrict the protection of disabled people to the provision of medical or physical care rather than to an equal entitlement to health services [336].

It is, therefore, unsurprising that such a perspective of disability permeates that teaching of IHL. Although this observation points out the problem, there is hardly a direct and immediate solution to these legally contradictory approaches in defining and protecting persons with disabilities [337,338]. Nevertheless, the contradiction suggests that in future, there might be a need of harmonizing the definitions and interpretations of disability in IHL in order to make it consistent with that of the CRPD. Such a harmonisation could also ensure consistency in the manner in which protecting and respecting the dignity of disabled individuals is perceived by students, practitioners and scholars, among other stakeholders, in IHRL and IHL as the relevant regimes of public international law.

Acknowledgments: I will extend my sincere appreciation to Sonic Furniture Construction and Technical Services without whose funding I would never have ever managed to undertake the research, a result of which this paper was generated. In the same ethos, I would like to acknowledge membership of Cardiff University that qualified the eligibility of this paper to editorial exemption to the open access journal of societies. The friendly research community in the school of law and politics also rendered endless support and enriching seminars from which I benefited immensely in improving my socio-legal skills of critical scrutiny. Without such skills it is highly unlikely that I would have managed to analyze and study the protective variances in international human rights law (IHRL) and international human rights law (IHL). Especially the variances in the nature and state of protection that international human rights law IHRL and IHL are rendering to Persons with Disabilities. As a principle of academic curtsey, I would also like to acknowledge Luke Clement and Christine Byron from Cardiff School of Law and Politics for their insightful feedback on this work especially in its preliminary stages. Nevertheless, as the author, I take responsibility for both the ideas and errors associated with this paper.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References and Notes

- 1. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (adopted 13 December 2006, entered to force on 3 May 2008) 2515 U.N.T.S 3, (hereafter CRPD), Article 11.
- 2. Henckaerts, J.M.; Doswald-Beck, L. *International Committee of the Red Cross, Customary International Humanitarian Law Volume I: Rules*; ICRC Study; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2005.
- 3. Milanovic, M. *Extraterritorial Application of Human Rights Treaties*; Law Principles and Policy; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2011; p. 7.
- 4. Case Concerning Armed Activities on the Territory of the Congo (Democratic Republic of the Congo v. Uganda) (Judgment) [2005] ICJ Rep 168, on acts outside Uganda's territorial jurisdiction but within its spatial jurisdiction, Cyprus v Turkey (25781/94), Banković and others v. Belgium and others (Application No. 52207/99) Paragraph 59, Loizidou v. Turkey judgment of 18 December 1996, (Merits), Reports 1996-V.
- 5. See A/HRC/37/75, Human Rights Council, Human rights situation in Palestine and other Occupied Arab territories: Human rights situation in Palestine and other occupied Arab territories since 1967. In Proceedings of the Thirty-Seventh Session, Geneva, Switzerland, 26 February–23 March 2018; Paragraphs 60–64.
- 6. Khan, L.S.; Crock, M.; Saul, B.; Mccallum, R. To 'Promote, Protect and Ensure' Overcoming obstacles to identifying disability in forced migration. *J. Refug. Stud.* **2015**, *28*, 38–68. [CrossRef]
- 7. Christoffersen, J. Impact on general principles of treaty interpretation. In *Impact of Human Rights Law on International Law*; Kamminga, M.T., Scheinin, M., Eds.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2009; p. 37.
- 8. Crock, M.; Ernest, C.; McCallum, R. Where disability and displacement intersect: Asylum seekers and refugees with Disabilities. *Int. J. Refug. Law* **2012**, *24*, 735–741. [CrossRef]
- 9. Mugabi, I. Conflict of laws cross to public international laws: The conflicting models in the conceptualisation of disability rights under international humanitarian law and human rights law. In *Scientia Nobilitat*, *Reviewed Legal Studies*; Dusan, S., Marian, V., Marketa, S., Robert, S., Eds.; Scientia Nobilitat: Łask, Poland, 2014; pp. 53–73.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 30 of 43

10. De Mel, N. Playing Disability, Performing Gender: Militarised Masculinity and Disability Theatre in the Sri Lankan War and Its Aftermath. In *Disability in the Global South: The Critical Handbook*; Grech, A.S., Soldatic, K., Eds.; Springer: Gewerbestrasse, Switzerland, 2016; pp. 99–116.

- 11. Meyers, S. Wounded Warriors or One of the Crowd? Civil War, Citizenship and Disability in Nicaragua, Disability Studies and Ability Studies: Two Lenses to Investigate. *Peace Stud. J.* **2013**, *6*, 22–36.
- 12. Hart, N.; Crock, M.; McCallum, R.; Saul, B. *Making Every Life Count: Ensuring Equality and Protection for Persons with Disabilities in Armed Conflicts*; Legal Studies Research Paper No. 14/106; Sydney Law School: Sydney, Australia, 2014. Available online: http://ssrn.com/abstract=2538249 (accessed on 29 December 2014).
- 13. Kabbara, N.; Khalli, J.A. The July–August war in Lebanon impact on persons with disabilities. In *Crises Conflict and Disability: Ensuring Equality*; Mitchel, D., Karr, V., Eds.; Routledge Taylor and Francis Group: Abingdon-on-Thames, UK, 2014; p. 219.
- 14. Hart, N.; Crock, M.; McCallum, R. War law and disability: Ensuring humanity in situations of crisis. In *Crises Conflict and Disability: Ensuring Equality*; Mitchel, D., Karr, V., Eds.; Routledge Taylor and Francis Group: Abingdon-on-Thames, UK, 2014; p. 11.
- 15. Kanter, A.S. *The Development of Disability Rights under International Law: From Charity to Human Rights*; Routledge: London, UK, 2015; p. 12.
- 16. Traustadottir, R. Disability Studies, the Social Model and Legal Developments' in the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities European and Scandinavian Perspectives; Arnadottir, O.M., Quinn, G., Eds.; Martinus Nijhoff Publishers: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2009; pp. 3–16.
- 17. Kanter, A.S. The Globalisation of Disability Right Law. Syracuse J. Int. Law Commer. 2003, 30, 241–269.
- 18. Watkin, K. Controlling the Use of Force: A Role for Human Rights Norms in Contemporary Armed Conflict. *Am. J. Int. Law* **2004**, *98*, 1–34. [CrossRef]
- 19. UN Human Rights Council, The right of persons with disabilities to live independently and be included in the community on an equal basis with others: Resolution adopted by the Human Rights Council, 8 April 2015, A/HRC/RES/28/4, paragraph 16.
- 20. UN Doc. S/2004/616 (23 August 2003) The Role of law and transitional Justice in Conflict and post conflict Societies Report by the secretariat, New York USA, paragraphs 9–10.
- 21. Lowe, A.V. Public international law and the conflict of laws: The European response to the United States export administration regulations. *ICLQ* **1984**, *33*, 515–530. [CrossRef]
- 22. Additional Protocol 1 (AP1) Article 8; Geneva Convention III (GCIII) Article 68. Cf. CRPD Article 12.
- 23. Mugabi, I. Protection of vulnerable groups during armed conflicts. US-China Law Rev. 2014, 11, 1273–1278.
- 24. Eide, A.H. Community based rehabilitation in post conflict and emergency situation. In *Rehabilitation after War and Conflict: Community and Individual;* Trauma, E.M., Ed.; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2010; pp. 97–100.
- 25. Report from International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC). How Law Protects Persons with Disabilities in Armed Conflict. Published on 13 December 2017. Available online: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/how_law_protects_persons_with_disabilities_in_war.pdf (accessed on 29 March 2018).
- 26. E-Include; Inclusion Europe. People with Intellectual Disabilities in Armed Conflict. *E-J. Incl. Eur.* Available online: http://www.e-include.info/articles/41-people-with-intellectual-disabilities-in-armed-conflict (accessed on 20 February 2014).
- 27. Arnardóttir, O.; Quinn, G. Introduction. In *The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, European and Scandinavian Perspectives*; Arnardóttir, O., Quinn, G., Eds.; Martinus Nijhoff Publishers: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2009; p. 17.
- 28. Droege, C. The interplay between international humanitarian law and international human rights law in situations of armed conflict. *Isr. Law Rev.* **2007**, *40*, 311–314. [CrossRef]
- 29. ILC. Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries. In Proceedings of the International Law Commission, UN GAOR, 53d Session, Geneva, Switzerland, 23 April–1 June; 2 July–10 August 2001.
- 30. Geneva Convention (GC) I–IV Common Article 3.
- 31. Ratner, S.R.; Jason, S.A.; Bishoff, J.L. *Accountability for Human Rights Atrocities in International Law: Beyond the Nuremberg Legacy*; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2009; p. 143.
- 32. De Wet, E. Complicity in violations of human rights and humanitarian law by incumbent governments through direct military assistance on request. *ICLQ* **2018**, *67*, 287–313. [CrossRef]

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 31 of 43

33. See Additional Protocol II (AP II), Preamble acknowledges that international instruments relating to human rights offer a basic protection to the human person.

- 34. Report on the situation of human rights in Kuwait under Iraqi occupation, prepared by Mr. Walter Kälin (E/CN.4/1992/26), see also Resolution 46/136 on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan.
- 35. The Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion, [hereinafter Nuclear Weapons Advisory Opinion] 1996 I.C.J. Reports 226, paragraph 25.
- 36. API Article 51(5) (b) and 57(2) (a) (iii) and (b). Available online: http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/3ae6b36b4.html (accessed on 2 August 2015).
- 37. See Resolution 46/135 on the situation of human rights in Kuwait under Iraqi occupation and Declaration 47/133 on the protection of all people against forced disappearances.
- 38. Mastorodimos, K. The utility and limits of international human rights law and international humanitarian Law's parallel applicability. *Rev. Int. Law Politics* **2009**, *5*, 129–151.
- 39. European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, 213 U.N.T.S. 221, entered into force 4 November 1950 [ECHR].
- 40. Hassan v. United Kingdom, App No. 29750/09 (Grand Chamber, ECtHR, 16 September 2014) Paragraph 6.
- 41. Al-Skeini v. United Kingdom 55721/07 [2011] ECHR 1093 (7 July 2011), Paragraphs 162-164.
- 42. Cyprus v. Turkey, nos. 6780/74 and 6950/75 Application no. 25781/94) Strasbourg, Judgment of 10 May 2001.
- 43. Medvedyev and others v. France (Application no. 3394/03) Strasbourg 29 March 2010.
- 44. McCarthy, C. Legal Conclusion or Interpretative Process? Lex Specialis and the Applicability of International Human Rights Standards. In *International Humanitarian Law and Human Rights Law towards a New Merger in International Law*; Arnold, R., Quénivet, N., Eds.; Martinus Nijhoff: Leiden, The Netherlands; Boston, MA, USA, 2008; p. 101.
- 45. Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, Advisory Opinion (9 July 2004), 2004 ICJ Rep. 163 [hereinafter Palestinian Wall].
- 46. De Koker, C. Hassan v United Kingdom: The interaction of human rights law and international humanitarian law with regard to the deprivation of liberty in armed conflicts. *Utrecht J. Int. Eur. Law* 2015, 31, 91–95. [CrossRef]
- 47. Byron, C. A blurring of the boundaries: The application of international humanitarian law by human rights bodies. *Va. J. Int. Law* **2007**, 47, 841–848.
- 48. Dinstein, Y. *The Conduct of Hostilities under the Law of International Armed Conflict*, 2nd ed.; Cambridge University Press: Oxford, UK, 2010; pp. 194–195.
- 49. Janina, D. *Applying the Principle of Proportionality in Combat Operations*; Policy Briefing Paper; Oxford Institute for Ethics, Law, and Armed Conflict: Oxford, UK, 2010; p. 3.
- 50. Mugabi, I.K. The post armed conflict period and rehabilitation of properties needed for persons with disabilities to participate in public and political life. In Proceedings of the 17th Annual Student Human Rights, UN Human Rights Council: Ten Years, Human Rights and Vulnerable Groups: Challenges for the UN University of Nottingham Law and Social Sciences Building, Atrium, Saturday 5 March 2016.
- 51. Clarke, P.M.; Gregory, R.; Salomon, J.A. Long-term Disability Associated with War-related Experience among Vietnam Veterans: Retrospective Cohort Study. *Med. Care* **2015**, *53*, 401–408. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 52. Global Protection Cluster (GPC). *Protection of Conflict-Induced IDPs: Assessment for Action*, February 2008. Available online: http://www.refworld.org/docid/47eba3c62.html (accessed on 23 February 2015).
- 53. United Nations Relief Works Agency (UNRWA). Syria Regional Crisis: Emergency Appeal. 2015. Available online: http://www.unrwa.org/sites/default/files/syria_regional_crisis_emergency_appeal_2015_english.pdf (accessed on 20 April 2015).
- 54. Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, (adopted on 18 December 1979, come into force 3 September 1981) 1249 U.N.T.S. 14 (hereinafter CEDAW). Article 3.
- 55. International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (adopted 21 December 1965, come in force 4 January 1969) 660 U.N.T.S 195. (hereafter CERD) Article 2.
- 56. Committee on the Rights of the Child, Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Rights of the Child: Cambodia, 24th Session, New York, NY, USA, 5 October 2012.
- 57. See ECHR Article 52, ICCPR Article 4 permit derogating from human rights, see also Milanovic, M. Extraterritorial Application of Human Rights Treaties; Law Principles and Policy; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2011; p. 9.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 32 of 43

58. International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (adopted 21 December 1965, come in force 4 January 1969) 660 U.N.T.S 195. (hereafter CERD).

- 59. Waterstone, M. Significance of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. *Loyola Los Angeles Int. Comp. Law Rev.* **2010**, *33*, 6–8.
- 60. Craven, M. *The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, A Perspective on Its Development;* Clarendon Press: Gloucestershire, UK, 1995.
- 61. Mugabi, I. Differences of protective challenges posed by natural and artificially motivated environmental hazards to obligations in article 11 of the convention on the rights of persons with disabilities. *J. Environ. Res. Dev.* **2016**, *11*, 439–449.
- 62. Thakur, R. Law, Legitimacy and United Nations. *Melb. J. Int. Law* **2010**, *11*. Available online: http://law.unimelb.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/1686273/Thakur.pdf (accessed on 12 November 2015).
- 63. Habasch, R. Is the Rights Model of Disability Valid in Post-conflict Lebanon? A Participatory Pilot Survey. *J. Palestine Stud.* **1997**, 27, 126–135.
- 64. Businge, P. Disability and armed conflict: A quest for Africanising disability in Uganda Disability and the Global South. University of Exeter Open Access., 2016; Volume 3, pp. 816–842, ISSN 2050-7364. Available online: https://www.dgsjournal.org (accessed on 20 August 2017).
- 65. Central African Republic. *Persons with Disabilities Left Behind*; Human Rights Watch: New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- 66. Degener, T.; Quinn, G. A Survey of International, Comparative and Regional Disability Law Reform. In *Disability Rights Law and Policy*; Breslin, M.L., Yee, S., Eds.; Transnational: Hong Kong, China, 2002; pp. 3–12.
- 67. Lawson, A. The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: A New Era or False Dawn? *Syracuse J. Int. Law Commer.* **2007**, *34*, 563–618.
- 68. Waserman, D. Philosophical issues in the definition and social response to disability. In *The Library of Essays on Equality and Anti-Discrimination Law*; Emens, E.F., Stein, M.A., Eds.; Ashgate Publishing Ltd.: Farnham, UK, 2013; pp. 220–225.
- 69. United States Agency for International Development (USAID). *Rights of Persons with Disability in the Armed Conflict in the east of Ukraine*; Analytical Report of the Ukrainian Helsinki Human Rights Union; Ukrainian Helsinki Human Rights Union: Kyiv, Ukraine, 2016.
- 70. Quine, O. Bryan Adams' Heart Stopping Images of Wounded British Soldiers to Go on Show at Somerset House Friday; Independent: London, UK, 2014.
- 71. Pictet, J.S. Commentaries on the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949; ICRC: Geneva, Switzerland, 1960; p. 31.
- 72. Lord, J.E. Persons with Disabilities in International Humanitarian Law-Paternalism, Protectionism or Rights. In *Disability, Human Rights and the Limits of Humanitarianism*; Gill, M., Schlund-Vials, C.J., Eds.; Routledge Tylor and Francis Group: New York, NY, USA, 2014; pp. 155–178.
- 73. Oliver, M. Understanding Disability from Theory to Practice; Macmillan Press: London, UK, 1996; p. 30.
- 74. See Chapt. Staats, T.B. The Rehabilitation of the Amputee in the Developing World: A review of the Literature. *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.* **1996**, *20*, 45–50. [PubMed]
- 75. Smith-Khan, L.; Crock, M.; Saul, B.; McCallum, R. *The Legal Protection of Refugees with Disabilities*; Elgar Edger Publishers: Cheltenham, UK, 2017.
- 76. See CEDAW/C/UGA/CO/7 p. 14, Paragraph 25. Recommendation on women with disabilities.
- 77. Oliver, M. Defining impairment and disability: Issues at stake. In *The Library of Essays on Equality and Anti-Discrimination Law*; Emens, E.F., Stein, M.A., Eds.; Ashgate Publishing Ltd.: Farnham, UK, 2013; p. 39.
- 78. Geneva Convention (GC) III Article 30, See also AP 1 Article 8 (a).
- 79. Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Statement of the on Disability Inclusion for the World Humanitarian Summit. Available online: http://www.un.org/disabilities/documents/WHS/Statement-of-the-on-disability-inclusion-for-WHS.pdf (accessed on 29 March 2015).
- 80. Bhroithe-Barnett, H.P.N. *The Protection and Safety of Persons with Disabilities in Armed Conflict*; Human Rights Law Clinic Papers; University of Essex: Essex, UK, 2016.
- 81. Geneva Convention III (GCIII) of 1949 Article 68.

82. API Article, 51(5) (b) and 57(2) (a) (iii) and (b). Available online: http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/3ae6b36b4.html (accessed on 2 August 2015). United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, GA Res. 61/106, 76th plen. mtg, New York USA, UN Doc. A/RES/61/106 (13 December 2006) (CRPD).

- 83. See also Wright, J.D. Excessive' Ambiguity: Analysing and Refining the Proportionality Standard. *Summer Int. Rev. Red Cross* **2012**, *886*, 851–854. Available online: https://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/review/2012/irrc-886-wright.pdf (accessed on 7 September 2015).
- 84. Schmitt, M.N.; Garraway, C.H. The Manual on the Law of Non-International Armed Conflict. *Int. Inst. Humanit. Law* **2006**, 12. Available online: http://stage.iihl.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Manual-on-the-Law-of-NIAC.pdf (accessed on 13 March 2016).
- 85. API, Article 51(5) (b) 52(2) b, 57(2) (b).
- 86. See Geneva Convention IV 1949 Article 49.
- 87. The United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner. *International Legal Protection of Human Rights in Armed Conflict*; The United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner: New York, NY, USA; Geneva, Switzerland, 2011. Available online: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/HR_in_armed_conflict.pdf (accessed on 21 February).
- 88. Altman, M. Disability definitions, models, classifications scheme and applications. In *Handbook of Disability: Disability Studies*; Albrecht, G.L., Seelman, K.D., Bury, M., Eds.; Sage Publishers: London, UK, 2001; pp. 97–121.
- 89. African Commission on Human and People's Rights, Egyptian Initiative for Personal Rights and Interights v Egypt, Decision, 16 December 2011.
- 90. Dominic, H.; Stiles, W. *Deaf People in the First World War*; University College London (UCL): London, UK, 2012; ICCPR Article 4.
- 91. Henderson, I. *The Contemporary Law of Targeting: Military Objectives, Proportionality and Precautions in Attack under Additional Protocol I;* Martinus Nijhoff: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2009; p. 247.
- 92. See Kathleen, C. Doubly protected and doubly discriminated: The paradox of women with disabilities after Conflict. *William Mary J. Women Law* **2012**, *19*, 105–136.
- 93. General comment, 6(16), UN Doc, CCPR/C/21/Add. 1, also, published as UN Doc. A/37/40, Annex, V UN Doc ICCPR/3/Add. 1, 382–383.
- 94. European Court of human rights, *Steward v. United Kingdom*, (App. No. 10044/82), (1985) 7 European/Human Rights Report.
- 95. Organisation of American States. *Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, DiexAnos de Actividades;* Organisation of American States: Washington, DC, USA, 1981.
- 96. Initial report of Uruguay', UN Doc CCPR/ C/1/Add. 57.
- 97. Allen, R. Faith and Disability, Comfort, Confusion or Conflict: How Does the Adoption of Christian Faith Influence the Lives of People Who Identify as Disabled in Britain in the 21st Century? Dissertation on Disability Studies; University of Leeds: Leeds, UK, 2010; p. 15. Available online: http://disability-studies.leeds.ac.uk/files/library/allen-RAllen-Dissertation-FINAL.pdf (accessed on 30 March 2015).
- 98. General Comment, 14 (23), UN Doc A/4/40/40, Annex XX, UN, Doc.
- 99. De Guerrero v. Columbia (No. 45 /1979), UN Doc, C/ICCPR/OP/1, 112 at 117. Article 2 (2).
- 100. American Convention on Human Rights (ACHR), (22 November 1969) 1144 UNTS 123, entered into force, 18 July 1978.
- 101. African Charter on Human and People Rights, (ACHPR), (26 June 1981) OAU, Doc, CAB/LEG/67/3 Rev. 5; 1520, UNTS, 217; 21 ILM 58 (1958), entered into force 21 October 1986, Article 4.
- 102. CRPD Article 10 in light of armed conflicts as envisaged in Article 11.
- 103. Schulz, M. Understanding the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. In *A Handbook on the Human Rights of Persons with Disabilities*; Handicap International, Ed.; Handicap International: Lyon, France, 2010; p. 54.
- 104. CRPD Article 10.
- 105. Protocol on Blinding Laser Weapons (Protocol IV to the Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons), opened for signature 13 October 1995, 35 ILM 1218 (entered into force 30 July 1998) ('Protocol IV to the CCW').
- 106. Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No 5: Persons with Disabilities, UN ESCOR, 11th session, UN Doc E/1995/22 (9 December 1994) New York and Geneva, 2001.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 34 of 43

107. Blackmore, T.; Hodgkin, S.L. Discourses of Disabled People Organisations: Foucault, Bourdieu and Future Perspectives. In *Disability and Social Theory: New Developments and Directions*; Goodley, D., Hughes, B., Davis, L., Eds.; Palgrave Macmillan: London, UK, 2012; pp. 70–90.

- 108. See the summarized discussions of that ICRC project in Henckaerts, J.M. Study on Customary International Humanitarian Law: A Contribution to the Understanding and respect for the rule of law in armed conflict. *Int. Rev. Red Cross* **2005**, *87*, 175–212. [CrossRef]
- 109. Note: That all human rights related cases before becoming admissible to regional and international courts such as the European Court of Human Rights they must have exhausted all the available domestic remedies, See The Practical Guide on Admissibility Criteria (2015) 60 E.H.R.R. SE8.
- 110. See, McCann v. United Kingdom (A/324), (1996) 21 E.H.R.R. 97Georgia v. Russia (Admissibility) (38263/08).
- 111. UNHCR. The UN Refugee Agency Policy Development and Evaluation Service. In *Unmet Needs and Diminished Opportunities: Disability, Displacement and Humanitarian Healthcare*; Mirza, M., Ed.; June 2011. Available online: http://www.unhcr.org/4e0dbdb29.pdf (accessed on 29 September 2014).
- 112. Overboe, J. Theory Impairment and Impersonal Singularities: Deleuze, Guattari and Agamben. In *Disability and Social Theory: New Developments and Directions*; Goodley, D., Hughes, B., Davis, L., Eds.; Palgrave Macmillan: London, UK, 2012; pp. 112–126.
- 113. Berke, J. *Deaf People and War: Being Deaf Can Lead to Death.* 28 September 2010. Available online: http://deafness.about.com/cs/archivedarticles/a/deafinwartime.htm (accessed on 30 January 2015).
- 114. Cassandra, P.; Estey, S.; Ennis, M. The Convention: On Paper and in Practice. *Forced Migration Rev.* **2010**, *35*, 23–24. Available online: www.fmreview.org/en/disability/FMR35/23-24.pdf (accessed on 12 April 2018).
- 115. ICCPR, Article 2(1) ECHR Article 1, ACHR Article 1; Convention Against Torture, Article 2(1), 10 adopted December 1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 85 [hereinafter CAT], See also CG II and CCI Article 12, GCIII Article 17, API Article 75(2) and AP II Article 4(2).
- 116. Clements, L. Disability, dignity and the cri de coeur. Eur. Hum. Rights Law Rev. 2011, 6, 675-680.
- 117. See Subsection 3.3.2. Under Subsection 3.3 of this study.
- 118. Owiny, E.; Nagujja, Y. Caught between a rock and hard place. In *Crises Conflict and Disability: Ensuring Equality*; Mitchel, D., Karr, V., Eds.; Routledge Taylor and Francis Group: Abingdon-on-Thames, UK, 2014; p. 204.
- 119. Human Rights Committee, *General Comment No. 18: Non-Discrimination*, 37th Session, New York, NY, USA, 10 November 1989 UN Doc HRI/GEN/1/Rev.6.
- 120. Parker, C.; Clements, L. The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: A new right to independent living. *Eur. Hum. Rights Law Rev.* **2008**, *4*, 508–510.
- 121. Tr, J. Mulvany. Disability, impairment or illness? The relevance of the social model of disability to the study of mental disorder. *Sociol. Health Illn.* **2000**, 22, 582–601.
- 122. O'Mahony, C.; Quinn, G. Disability Law and Policy: An Analysis of the UN Convention; Clarus Press Ltd.: Dublin, Ireland, 2017.
- 123. Stein, M.A.; Stein, P.J.S. *Disability, Development, and Human Rights: A Mandate and Framework for International Financial Institutions*; University of California: Oakland, CA, USA, 2014. Available online: http://scholarship.law.berkeley.edu/californialawreview/vol95/iss1/2 (accessed on 20 April 2018).
- 124. Barnes, C. Independent living: A social model account. In *Understanding Health and Social Care:* An *Introductory Reader*, 2nd ed.; Johnson, J., De Souza, C., Eds.; Open University Press: London, UK, 2008; pp. 89–97.
- 125. Ikawa, D. The construction of identity and rights: Race and gender in Brazil. *Int. J. Law Context* **2014**, 10, 494–506. [CrossRef]
- 126. Longmore, P.K. A note on language and Social identity of disabled people. *Am. Behav. Sci.* **1985**, *28*, 420–423. [CrossRef]
- 127. CRPD Articles, 2, 3(d), 4 (1).
- 128. Khashiyev v. Russia and Akayeva v. Russia (Applications nos. 57942/00 and 57945/00) Judgment Strasbourg 24 (paragraphs 23, 58).
- 129. Mowbra, J. *Linguistic Justice: International Law and Language Policy;* Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2012; p. 70.
- 130. Wendell, S. The Rejected Body; Routledge Taylor and Francis Group: New York, NY, USA, 1997; pp. 11–34.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 35 of 43

131. Leanne, R.; Hogue, T.E. "You have the right to remain silent": current provisions for D/deaf people within regional police forces in England and Wales. *Pol. J.* **2018**, *91*, 64–88.

- 132. Mandipa, E.; Manyatera, G. African Disability Rights. Year Book. Zimbabwe, 287 (2014) J JAFL 2014, p. 287. Available online: http://www.adry.up.ac.za/images/adry/volume2_2014/adry_2014_2_full_text. pdf (accessed on 23 April 2017).
- 133. GC III Article 30 Paragraph 2 and GC III Article 68.
- 134. Vita, A.J.; Terry, R.B.; Hubert, H.B.; Fries, J.F. Aging, health risks, and cumulative disability. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1998**, 338, 1035–1041. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 135. Wan, H.; Larsen, L.J. *Older Americans with a Disability: 2008 from 2012*; American Community Survey Reports; U.S. Government Printing Office: Washington, DC, USA, 2014. Available online: http://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2014/acs/acs-29.pdf (accessed on 18 June 2015).
- 136. Muscular Dystrophies (MD) Are a Group of Genetically Inherited Conditions that Tend to Gradually Weaken the Muscles and as a Result Leading to Disability. See National Health Service (NHS), Muscular Dystrophy (31/07/2013). Available online: http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Muscular-dystrophy/Pages/Introduction. aspx (accessed on 11 June 2015).
- 137. See ICRC, Rule 138 on the Elderly, Disabled and Infirm. Available online: https://www.icrc.org/customary-ihl/eng/docs/v1_rul_rule138 (accessed on 3 July 2015).
- 138. Clark, P. Bringing the War Home: The Rising Disability Claims of Afghanistan War Vets; University of Melbourne: Melbourne, Australia, 2016.
- 139. Knell, Y. Israeli Strike on Disability Shelter in Gaza's Beit Lahiya. *BBC News*, 12 July 2014. Available online: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-middle-east-28275837 (accessed on 13 July 2014).
- 140. Abunimah, A. Video, Settlers Cheer as Israeli Soldiers Attack Disabled Palestinian Child. *The Electronic Intifada News*, 21 October 2014. Available online: https://electronicintifada.net/blogs/ali-abunimah/videosettlers-cheer-israeli-soldiers-attack-disabled-palestinian-child (accessed on 30 August 2015).
- 141. See Geneva Convention IV Article, 49, See also GC III Article, 17, AP1 Article 75(2); APII Article 4(2).
- 142. Geneva Convention Article, 68, see also API Article 8 (a), Rule 138 of the ICRC Commentary. Available online: https://www.icrc.org/customary-ihl/eng/docs/v1_rul_rule138 (accessed on 3 July 2015).
- 143. Human Rights Watch, As If We Weren't Human, Discrimination and Violence against Women, with Disabilities in Northern Uganda (August 2010). Available online: http://www.hrw.org (accessed on 12 November 2015).
- 144. The Guardian, UK Edition, Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War (part three) Tue 25 Mar 2003. Available online: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2003/mar/25/iraq4 (accessed on 20 April 2018).
- 145. Oberleitner, G. Human Rights in Armed Conflict; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2015; p. 70.
- 146. Preamble to the Convention on Cluster Munitions (adopted on 30 May 2008, the entered into force on 1 August 2010), CCM/77.
- 147. Degener, T. A New Human Right Model of Disability. In *The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: A Commentary;* Fina, V.D., Ed.; Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2017; pp. 42–57.
- 148. World Health Organisation. World Report on Disability Report; WHO: Geneva, Switzerland, 2011; p. 262.
- 149. World Institute on Disability (WID). The Involvement of Persons with Disabilities in Conflict Resolution and Peacebuilding Efforts: Inclusion of Persons with Disabilities (PWD) as Part of the Solution in the Post-Conflict Arena; WID: Berkeley, CA, USA, 2015.
- 150. The 11th, 12th and 13th Periodic Reports of the Republic of Rwanda on the Implementation Status of the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights & the Initial Report on the Implementation Status of the Protocol to the African Charter on Human and People's Rights and the Rights of Women in Africa (Maputo Protocol) Period Covered by the Report: 2009–2016.
- 151. African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights, Report from the Government of the Republic of Mozambique Submitted in Terms of Article 62 of the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights (Combined Report 1999–2010) African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights Maputo, August 2012. Available online: http://www.achpr.org/files/sessions/55th/state-reports/1-1999-2010/report_initial_and_combined_1999_2010_eng.pdf (accessed on 12 August 2017).
- 152. International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), ICRC supports new physical rehabilitation centre in Sudan, 11 August 2016.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 36 of 43

153. Boyce, W. Adaptation of community based rehabilitation in areas of armed conflict. *Asia Pac. Disabil. Rehabil. J.* **2000**, *1*. Available online: http://www.dinf.ne.jp/doc/english/asia/resource/apdrj/z13jo0500/z13jo0506.html (accessed on 12 March 2017).

- 154. Geneva Convention IV, Article 30, see also CG III. Article 68, See also ICRC Rule 138.
- 155. Geneva Convention III, Articles 109-117; CG IV, Article 132.
- 156. See *Travaux préparatoires* of the Sixth Session of the Ad Hoc Committee on a Comprehensive and Integral International Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights and Dignity of Persons with Disabilities, *Daily Summary Discussion*. 11 August 2005. Available online: www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/ahc6sum11aug.htm (accessed on 25 March 2015).
- 157. Portero, I.B.; Bolaños, T.G. Enríquez Persons with disabilities and the Colombian armed conflict. *Disabil. Soc.* **2018**, 33, 487–491. [CrossRef]
- 158. HQ/PEC/ERM/SCT/2015.9/PHRA, from the *Humanitarian Crisis in Libya Public Health Risk Assessment and Interventions*; WHO: Geneva, Switzerland, 2015; pp. 12–15.
- 159. Howe, B.M. Post-Conflict Development in East Asia; Routledge: Abingdon, UK, 2016; pp. 3-14.
- 160. Murphy, J.F. *The Evolving Dimensions of International Law, Hard Choices for the Word Community;* Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2010; p. 174.
- 161. See International Committee of the Red Cross, Enhancing Protection for Civilians in Armed Conflict and Other Situations of Violence, International Committee of the Red Cross, Geneva, Switzerland, September 2008; pp. 18–19.
- 162. GC IV Articles 14 and 17, AP I Article 8 (a).
- 163. United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner (UNHROHC). *International Legal Protection of Human Rights in Armed Conflict;* United Nations Publication: Geneva, Switzerland, 2011; pp. 20–21.
- 164. API Article 8(a).
- 165. Schriner, K.; Scotch, R. The ADA and the Meaning of Disability. In *Backlash against the ADA: Reinterpreting Disability Rights*; Krieger, L.H., Ed.; Michigan University Press: Ann Arbor, MI, USA, 2003; pp. 164–188.
- 166. CRPD Article 1 Paragraph 2 in combination with Article 11. BC Coalition of People with Disabilities, A Road Map to Emergency Planning for People with Disabilities. p. iii. Available online: https://www.disabilityalliancebc.org/docs/emergpreproadmap.pdf (accessed on 29 March 2015).
- 167. See ICRC Commentary Rule 138. The Elderly, Disabled and Infirm during Armed Conflict. Available online: https://www.icrc.org/customary-ihl/eng/docs/v1_cha_chapter39_rule138 (accessed on 2 August 2015).
- 168. Department of Economic and Social Affairs. *Global Status Report on Disability and Development Prototype* 2015; United Nations: New York, NY, USA, 2015; pp. 183–185.
- 169. Koch, I.E. From invisibility to Indivisibility: The International Convention on Rights of Persons with Disabilities. In *The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, European and Scandinavian Perspectives*; Arnadottir, O.M., Quinn, G., Eds.; Martinus Nijhoff Publishers: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2009; pp. 67–76.
- 170. Henckaerts, J.M. Concurrent application of international human rights law and international humanitarian law: Victims in search of a forum. *Hum. Rights Int. Leg. Discourse* **2007**, *1*, 95–97.
- 171. Moir, L. *The Law of Armed Conflict Additional Protocol II of 1977*; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2003; p. 23.
- 172. Corn, G.S. Hamdan, Lebanon, and the Regulation of Hostilities: The Need to Recognize a Hybrid Category of Armed Conflict Vanderbilt. *J. Trans. Law* **2007**, *40*, 295–300.
- 173. Clapham, A. Human Rights Obligation of Non-State Actors; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2006; p. 303.
- 174. CRPD Article 11. United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction, "UN global survey explains why so many people living with disabilities die in disasters", press release, 10 October 2013.
- 175. NATO Review Protecting Civilians with Disabilities in Conflicts 01/12/2017. Available online: https://www.nato.int/docu/review/2017/Also-in-2017/Protecting-civilians-with-disabilities-in-conflicts/EN/index.htm (accessed on 30 April 2016).
- 176. See also Denholm, C.; McGowan, P.; Tatham, P. Emerging from the shadows: Fijian children and youth with disabilities. In *Beyond Basic Care: Special Education and Community Rehabilitation in Low Income Countries*; Brown, R.I., Baine, D., Neufeldt, A.H., Eds.; North York Captus Press: North York, ON, Canada, 1996; p. 104.
- 177. A/60/266, Ad Hoc Committee on a Comprehensive and Integral International Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights and Dignity of Persons with Disabilities, New York, NY, USA.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 37 of 43

178. General Assembly resolutions 58/246 and 59/198 and decision 56/474, the Committee, New York, NY, USA.

- 179. Byone, I.; Oliver, M.; Barnes, C. *Equal Rights for Disabled People*; Institute of Public Policy Research: London, UK, 1991; p. 12.
- 180. A/AC.265/2006/1, Letter Dated 2005/10/07 from the Chairman to All Members of the Committee, New York, NY, USA. Available online: http://hr-travaux.law.virginia.edu/document/crpd/aac26520061/nid-943 (accessed on 24 June 2017).
- 181. The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. General Comment No. 5 Persons with Disabilities (the 11th Session 1994) (UN Doc. E/C.12/1994/13) Adopted 25 November 1994.
- 182. Priestly, M.; Lawson, A. The social model of disability Question for law and legal scholarship. In *Handbook of Disability Law and Human Rights*; Blanck, P., Flynn, E., Eds.; Routledge Tylor and Francis Group: New York, NY, USA, 2017; pp. 3–30.
- 183. Khaliq, U. Conflicting or complementary obligations? The UN Disability Rights Convention, the European Convention on Human Rights and English law. *Eur. Hum. Rights Law Rev.* **2011**, *6*, 662–663.
- 184. The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, United Nations and Inter-Parliamentary Union. From Exclusion to Equality: Realizing the rights of persons with disabilities. In *Handbook for Parliamentarians on the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and Its Optional Protocol;* Achiron, M., Ed.; OHCHR: Geneva, Switzerland, 2007. Available online: http://www.ipu.org/PDF/publications/disabilities-e.pdf (accessed on 4 February 2015).
- 185. See, General Assembly Resolution 48/96, annex, of 20 December 1993, Adopted by the United Nations General Assembly, forty-eighth session.
- 186. UN committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. The Forgotten Victims' of Syria's Conflict. Available online: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=13736&LangID=E (accessed on 30 December 2016).
- 187. Comprehensive and Integral International Convention to Promote and Protect the Rights and Dignity of Persons with Disabilities, GA Res 56/168, 3rd Comm, 56th Session, 88th held 26 February 2002 Plenary Meeting, Agenda Item 119, UN Doc A/RES/56/168, New York, NY, USA.
- 188. Human Rights and Disability: The Current Use and Future Potential of United Nations Human Rights Instruments in the Context of Disability (Geneva, Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2002). Available online: http://www.ipu.org/PDF/publications/disabilities-e.pdf (accessed on 4 February 2015).
- 189. See General Assembly Resolution 58/246, the Ad Hoc Committee started its negotiation on a draft convention at its Third Session from 24 May to 4 June 2004.
- 190. In early November 2009, the Security Council referred to persons with disabilities explicitly in its resolution on "Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict" (SC 1894).
- 191. CRPD, 2006, Adopted 13 December 2006, UNGA Res. 61/106 and Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 13 December 2006, UNGA Res. 61/611.
- 192. See Assessing the Effectiveness of National Human Rights Institutions; International Council on Human Rights Policy and Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights: Geneva, Switzerland, 2005.
- 193. C,A/RES/60/260, General Assembly, 16 May 2006, New York, NY, USA.
- 194. Degener, T. Editorial Editor's foreword Theresia Degener. Int. J.L.C. 2017, 13, 1-5.
- 195. Blanck, P.; Flynn, E. Handbook of Disability Law and Human Rights; Routledge: London, UK, 2017.
- 196. Cobley, D.S. Typhoon Haiyan One Year on: Disability, Poverty and Participation in the Philippines. *Disability and the Global South* **2015**, 2, 686–707. Available online: https://disabilityglobalsouth.files.wordpress.com/2012/06/dgs-02-03-01.pdf (accessed on 15 October 2016).
- 197. Reilly, R. Disabilities among refugees and conflict-affected populations Disability and Displacement. *FMR* **2010**, 35, 8–10. Available online: http://www.fmreview.org/sites/fmr/files/FMRdownloads/en/disability/FMR35/08-10.pdf (accessed on 29 March 2015).
- 198. Sivakumaran, S. *The Law of Non-International Armed Conflict*; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2012; p. 340.
- 199. Coomans, F.; Kunnmann, R. Cases and Concepts on Extraterritorial Obligations in the Area of Economic Social and Cultural Rights. In *Maastricht Centre for Human Rights*; Intersentia Publishing Ltd.: Cambridge, UK, 2012; p. 251.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 38 of 43

200. The Hyogo Framework Adopted for Action in 2005 UN General Assembly in the Resolution A/RES/60/195 following the 2005 World Disaster Reduction Conference, Kobe, Hyogo, Japan, 18–22 January 2005.

- 201. Disabled Peoples' International v. United States, Case 9213 (United States), Inter-American Commission on Human Rights OAS Doc. OEA/ser.L.IV/II.67, doc. 6 (1986).
- 202. Moussa, J. *Elderly, Handicapped under Shelling in Old Aleppo*; Broadcasted on the Al-Aan TV on 8 December 2012. The Footage Depicts the Suffering of the Elderly and Person with Mental Disabilities under Constant Shelling in Aleppo's Old City. Water, Food, Electricity, and Warm Clothing Are All in Short Supply. (Uploaded on the YouTube, 10 December 2012). Available online: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=54ysGTi9Tzo (accessed on 7 March 2015).
- 203. CRPD/C/14/R.1.
- 204. Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, "Humanitarian concerns in the post-2015 development agenda", Position paper and key messages, 2013, p. 2.
- 205. OP to the CRPD Article 1(2). See also OHCHR. Fact sheet and Guidelines on the procedure for submitting communications to the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities under the OP-CRPD.
- 206. OP to the CRPD Article 1(1).
- 207. See also *Kenneth McAlpine v The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland*, Communication No. 6/2011, CRPD/C/8/D/6/2011, 28 September 2012.
- 208. Mugabi, I. Multiple Vulnerability of Refugees with Disabilities: The Legal Implications of the Overlaps in the State of Obligations to Refugee and Disability Law under International Law: The Context of the Convention on Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2662594 (accessed on 29 March 2017).
- 209. Banković and others v. Belgium and others (Application No. 52207/99) Paragraph 59, S/PRST/2014/3.
- 210. See also OHCHR Fact sheet and Guidelines on the procedure for submitting communications to the CRPD Committee under the OP-CRPD.
- 211. OP to the CRPD Article 2 (a)–(f), See also, Practical Guide on Admissibility Criteria (2015) 60 E.H.R.R. SE8, CAT Committee, *Ahmad Dar* v. *Norway*, Communication No. 249/2004, 16 May 2007, UN Doc. CAT/C/38/D/249/2004, Paragraph 16.3. Objection was raised on failure to exhaust local remedies see also *T.P.S v. Canada*, Communication No. 099/1997, Paragraph 15.6 and *Cecilia Rosana Núñez Chipana v. Venezuela*, Communication No. 110/1998, Paragraph 8.
- 212. HM v. Sweden, Communication No. 3/2011, CRPD /C/7/D/3/2011, 19 April 2012.
- 213. Brada v. France, Communication No. 195/2002, views adopted on 17 May 2005, Paragraph 13.4.
- 214. Charter on Inclusion of Persons with Disabilities in Humanitarian Action. Available online: http://humanitariandisabilitycharter.org/wp-content/themes/humanitarian-disability-charter.org/pdf/charter-on-inclusion-of-persons-with-disabilities-in-humanitarian-action.pdf (accessed on 29 March 2017).
- 215. Armer, B. In search of a social model of disability. In *Implementing the Social Model of Disability: Theory and Research*; Barnes, C., Mercer, G., Eds.; The Disability Press: London, UK, 2004; pp. 1–17.
- 216. Working with the United Nations Human Rights Programme: A Handbook for Civil Society, Chapter VIII. Available online: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/NgoHandbook/ngohandbook8.pdf (accessed on 31 August 2015).
- 217. Proceedings of the CRPD/C/2/3, CRPD, Committee, 2nd Session, Geneva, Switzerland, 19–23 October 2009.
- 218. IDA factsheet on the Optional Protocol to the CRPD.
- 219. WHO. CBR Guidelines: Introductory Booklet. Towards Community-Based Inclusive Development; Khasnabis, C., Motsch, K.H., Eds.; WHO: Geneva, Switzerland, 2010.
- 220. CRPD Committee's Views on Individual Communications under the Optional Protocol. Available online: http://www.internationaldisabilityalliance.org/crpd-committee-interpretation (accessed on 30 April 2017).
- 221. Article 1 (2), a limitation to the committee numerically a few States that are parties to the OP.
- 222. ICRC. Penal Repression: Punishing War Crimes, Advisory Service on International Humanitarian Law; ICRC: Geneva, Switzerland, 2004; p. 1.
- 223. OP to the CRPD Article 2 (f).
- 224. CRPD Committee Decision in *Kenneth McAlpine v. The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland*, Communication No. 6/2011, CRPD/C/8/D/2011, 28 September 2012.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 39 of 43

225. Mugabi, I. Followers and failures of the disability individual complaints in the same European Union (EU) family. In *Role of Law, Human Rights and Social Justice, Justice Systems, Commerce, and Law Curriculum: Selected Issues, Proceedings of the 13th Annual International Conference on Law, Athens, Greece, 11–14 July 2016;* Frenkel, D.A., Ed.; The Athens Institute for Education and Research: Athens, Greece, 2017; pp. 74–104.

- 226. CRPD Committee. Decisions on violations in *HM v. Sweden*, Communication No. 3/2011, CRPD /C/7/D/3/2011, 19 April 2012, and *Szilvia Nyusti & Péter Takács v. Hungary*, Communication No. 1/2010, CRPD/C/9/D/1/2010, 16 April 2013.
- 227. Gioia, A. The role of European Court of human rights. In *International Humanitarian Law and International Human Rights Law*; Ben-Naftali, O., Ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2011; p. 207.
- 228. European Convention on the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (4 November 1950) 213 UNTS 222; 312 ETS 5, entered into force 3 September 1953 (European Convention on Human Rights or ECHR), Article; 1 jurisdiction and control.
- 229. CRPD, Article 35, See also OP to the CRPD, Article 7(1).
- 230. Jurisdiction under European Court on Human Rights can relate to several issues. See *R. v Bow Street Metropolitan Stipendiary Magistrate Ex Parte, Pinochet Ugarte* [1999] 2 AER 97, *Soering v. United Kingdom* (application number 14038/88).
- 231. JSee ECtHR decisions in *Loizidou v. Turkey* ((Preliminary objections) Application No. 15318/89, 23 March 1995, Paragraph 62.
- 232. Lowe, P. The application of the European Convention on Human Rights during an international armed conflict. In *International Conflict and Security Law*; Burchill, R., White, N.D., Morris, J., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2008; p. 185.
- 233. ICCPR, International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, G.A. Res. 2200A (XXI), 21 U.N. GAO (Supp. No. 16) at 52, U.N. Doc. A/6316 (Dec. 16, 1966), 999 U.N.T.S. 171, entered into force Mar. 23, 1976 [hereinafter ICCPR] (1).
- 234. Da Karen, C. *The Extraterritorial Application of Selected Human Rights Treaties*; Matinus Nijhoff Publishers: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2013.
- 235. Coomans, F.; Kunnmann, R. Cases and concepts on extraterritorial obligations in the area of economic social and cultural rights. In *Maastricht Centre for Human Rights*; Intersentia Publishing Ltd.: Cambridge, UK, 2012; p. 252.
- 236. Rachovitsa, A. The principle of systemic integration in human rights law. ICLQ 2017, 66, 557–588. [CrossRef]
- 237. Meron, T. The humanisation of international law. In *The Hague Academy of International Law*; Martinus Nijoff Publishers: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2006; p. 25.
- 238. Bossuyt, M.J. *Guide to the Travaux Preparatoires of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;* Kluwer Academic Publishers: Berlin, Germany, 1987; p. 50.
- 239. General Comment No. 31 [10] (ICCPR art 2); Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory (Advisory Opinion) [2004] ICJ Rep 136, Paragraphs 180–182 (control over territory abroad under the ICESCR).
- 240. ICJ. Case Concerning Armed Activities on the Territory of the Congo (Democratic Republic of the Congo v Uganda) (Judgment) [2005] ICJ Rep 168, p. 216 at 242–243 (state exercise of jurisdiction abroad under the ICESCR).
- 241. Wasswa, H. Will Uganda Pay up for Congo Occupation? Global Voices, Institute for War and Peace Reporting, Institute for War and Peace Reporting, 31 July 2007, Netherlands, ACR ISSUE 123. Available online: https://iwpr.net/global-voices/will-uganda-pay-congo-occupation (accessed on 15 May 2016).
- 242. Samaha, A. What Good Is the Social Model of Disability; University of Chicago Public Law & Legal Theory Working Paper No. 166: Chicago, IL, USA, 2007; pp. 33–35.
- 243. See Sassoli, M. New Types of Armed Conflicts. In *International Humanitarian Law and International Human Rights Law*; Ben-Naftali, O., Ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2011; p. 39.
- 244. Resolution 2444 (XXIII) of the United Nations General Assembly, Respect for Human Rights in Armed Conflicts, Made at the International Conference of the Red Cross held at Vienna in 1965 and adopted on 12 May 1968 by the International Conference on Human Rights. Available online: https://www.icrc.org/ (accessed on 23 February 2014).
- 245. Droeg The survey estimated that as many as 22 per cent of Syrian refugees surveyed had an impairment. See HelpAge International and Handicap International, Hidden victims of the Syrian crisis: Disabled, Injured and older refugees, 2014, p. 6.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 40 of 43

246. See ECOSOC. Report of the High Commissioner for Human Rights on Implementation of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, E/2009/90, 8 June 2009.

- 247. Human Rights Committee, general comment No. 35 (CCPR/C/GC/35).
- 248. The CRPD Committee Is the Monitoring Body for the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.
- 249. Médicins Sans Frontières; Syria Factsheet. Available online: http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/2015_crisisupdatesyria-jan-en_final.pdf (accessed on 22 June 2015).
- 250. Yusupova, v. Russia and Bazayeva v. Russia (Applications nos. 57947/00, 57948/00 and 57949/00) Strasbourg Judgment of 24 February 2005 (Pararagraph 48).
- 251. Boothby, W.H. Conflict Law: The Influence of New Weapons Technology, Human Rights and Emerging Actors; Asser Press: Surrey, UK, 2014; p. 266.
- 252. Crock, M. *The Protection of Vulnerable Groups in Research Handbook on Disasters and International Law;* Breau, S.C., Katja, L.H.S., Eds.; Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham, UK, 2016; pp. 382–405, at 401.
- 253. Human Rights Committee, Hamilton v Jamaica, 66th Session, UN Doc CCPR/C/66/D/616/1995 (23 July 1999).
- 254. See OP to the CRPD Article 1(2) dual membership the CRPD and its OP, Article 2 Admissibility criteria.
- 255. NB. Mauritius made Reservation to that effect while Azerbaijan made a Declaration on Article 11.
- 256. Kamminga, M.T. Final report on the impact of international human rights law on general international law. In *Impact of Human Rights Law on International Law*; Kamminga, M.T., Scheinin, M., Eds.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2009; p. 11.
- 257. See the Committee's admissibility decision in Gröninger v. Germany CRPD/C/8/D/2/2010.
- 258. Rachovitsa, A. Fragmentation of international law revisited: Insights, good practices, and lessons to be learned from the case law of the European Court of Human Rights Leiden. *LJIL* **2015**, *28*, 863–885. [CrossRef]
- 259. De Beco, G. Human Rights Impact Assessments. Neth. Q. Hum. Rights 2009, 27, 139–166. [CrossRef]
- 260. Haines, S. The nature of war and the character of contemporary armed conflict. In *International Law and the Classification of Conflicts*; Wilmshurst, E., Ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2012; p. 10.
- 261. Boerefijn, I. Impact on the law of treaty reservations. In *Impact of Human Rights Law on International Law;* Kamminga, M.T., Scheinin, M., Eds.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2009; p. 66.
- 262. Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 23 May 1969, 1155 U.N.T.S. 331 (entered into force 27 January 1980) [hereinafter Vienna Convention], Article 2.
- 263. Lowe, V. International Law; Clarendon Press: Wotton-under-Edge, UK, 2007; pp. 100–137.
- 264. Smith, R.K.M. *Text Book International Human Rights*, 6th ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2014; p. 186.
- 265. See Australia and the Czech Republic, among others, made objections to the reservation made by El Salvador, on the basis of applying the CRPD subject to its Constitution.
- 266. See also Azerbaijan Has Been Involved in a Border Dispute with Armenia. See Nagorno-Karabakh Profile Overview. *BBC News*, 12 March 2015. Available online: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-18270325 (accessed on 1 July 2015).
- 267. See Internal Displacement and Monitoring Centre (IDMC), Azerbaijan IDPs Still Trapped in Poverty and Dependence a Profile of the Internal Displacement Situation, 14 July 2008. Available online: http://www.internal-displacement.org/assets/library/Europe/Azerbaijan/pdf/Azerbaijan-Overview-Jul08.pdf (accessed on 1 July 2015).
- 268. Paparinskis, M. *The International Minimum Standard and Fair and Equitable Treatment*; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2013; p. 251.
- 269. Keller, H.; Ulfstein, G.; Grover, L. *UN Human Rights Treaty Bodies: Law and Legitimacy*; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2012.
- 270. Besson, S. The extraterritoriality of the European Convention on Human Rights: Why human rights depend on jurisdiction and what jurisdiction amounts to. *LJIL* **2012**, *25*, 857–888. [CrossRef]
- 271. In that case this study points at the Advisory Opinion of the ICL on Reservations to the Genocide Convention or to the cases *Belilos v. Switzerland*, 29 April 1988, Series A No. 132; App. No. 9116/80, *Temeltasch v. Switzerland*, Commission's report of 5 March 1983, 31 DR 120 in the EComm and ECtHR as well as General Comment No. 24 of the Human Rights Committee. See *Reservations to the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide*, Advisory Opinion [1951] ICJ Rep. 24.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 41 of 43

- 272. In the case of Article 11 of the CRPD Mauritius made a reservation.
- 273. Klabber, J. On human rights treaties, contractual conceptions and reservations. In *Reservations to Human Rights Treaties and the Vienna Convention Regime: Conflict Harmony or Reconciliation*; Ziemele, I., Liede, L., Eds.; Martinus Nijhoff: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2004; p. 181.
- 274. The Division for Social Policy and Development (DSPD); Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA). *Toolkit on Disability for African: The Right of Persons with Disabilities to Work*; DSPD and DESA: New York, NY, USA, 2016.
- 275. Ranganathan, S. *Strategically Created Treaty Conflicts and the Politics of International Law;* Cambridge Studies in International and Comparative Law; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2014.
- 276. Where reservations are made against the State's capability to enforce certain rights of individuals.
- 277. Reservations to the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, Advisory Opinion [1951] ICJ Rep. 24.
- 278. Belilos v. Switzerland, 29 April 1988, Series A No. 132, see Paragraphs 49–50.
- 279. Hessler, K. Resolving Interpretive Conflicts in International Human Rights Law. *J. Political Philos.* **2005**, 13, 29. [CrossRef]
- 280. Jachec-Neale, A. End Justifi es the Means?—Post 9/11 Contempt for Humane Treatment. In *International Humanitarian Law and Human Rights Law toward a Merger in International Law*; Arnold, R., Quénivet Matinus Nijhoff, N., Eds.; Brill: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2008; pp. 57–100.
- 281. Criminal Justice Act 2003 c. 44 Section 146.
- 282. Dimopoulo, A. Balancing disability protection against freedom of speech: Should an offence of incitement to disability hatred be introduced? *Public Law* **2015**, *79*, 93–95.
- 283. Regina v. Damien Ross Bridge [2012] EWCA Crim. 2270.
- 284. United Nations OCHA and IRIN Report. When the Sun Sets We Begin to Worry; Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) Regional Support Office for Central and East Africa and Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN), United Nations OCHA and IRIN Publications: Kampala, Uganda, 2004. Available online: http://www.irinnews.org/pdf/in-depth/when-the-sun-sets-revised-edition.pdf (accessed on 7 July 2014).
- 285. Bynoe, I.; Oliver, M.; Barnes, C. Equality for Disabled People: The Case for a New Law the Case for Anti-Discrimination Legislation; Institute of Public Policy Research (IPPR): London, UK, 1988; p. 19.
- 286. Marrakesh Treaty to facilitate Access to Published Works for Persons Who Are Blind, Visually Impaired, or Otherwise Print Disabled. Available online: http://www.wipo.int/edocs/mdocs/diplconf/en/vip_dc/vip_dc_8.pdf (accessed on 1 July 2017).
- 287. Koklu, K. The Marrakesh Treaty-time to end the book famine for visually impaired persons worldwide. *Int. Rev. Intellect. Prop. Compet. Law* **2014**, *45*, 737–738.
- 288. Jingyi, L. Copyright exemptions to facilitate access to published works for the print disabled the gap between national laws and the standards required by the Marrakesh Treaty. *Int. Rev. Intellectual Prop. Compet. Law* **2014**, *45*, 740–767.
- 289. See Prasad, A.; Agarwala, A.; Prasad, A. Copyright Law Desk Book: Knowledge, Access & Development; Universal Publishing Company: Delhi, India, 2009; pp. 194–197.
- 290. Perrin, B. Searching for Accountability: The Draft UN International Convention on the Regulation, Oversight, and Monitoring of Private Military and Security Companies. *Can.* 2009 Yearb. Int. Law 2009, 47, 299–317.
- 291. Koskenniemi, M. Fragmentation of International Law: Difficulties Arising from the Diversification and Expansion of International Law. In *Report of the Study Group of the International Law Commission Finalized;* UN Doc A/CN.4/L.682 (2006) (ILC Final Rep): Geneva, Switzerland, 2006.
- 292. Reinish, A. The changing international legal framework for dealing with non-State Actors. In *Human Rights and Non-State Actors*; Alston, P., Ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2005; p. 37.
- 293. De Than, C.; Shorts, E. *International Criminal Law and Human Rights*; Sweet and Maxwell: London, UK, 2003; p. 130.
- 294. See *Prosecutor v Dusko Tadić aka Dule*, Case No. IT-94-1-AR, Decision on the defence motion for interlocutory appeal on Jurisdiction (2 October 1995) p. 105 Paragraph 72.
- 295. Carswell, A.J. Classifying the conflict: A soldier's dilemma. *Int. Rev. Red Cross* **2009**, *873*. Available online: https://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-873-carswell.pdf (accessed on 23 February 2014). [CrossRef]

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 42 of 43

296. Geneva Call Report. *The EU-Africa Strategy and the Humanitarian Engagement of Armed Non-State Actors*; Posted on 1 December 2007. Available online: http://www.genevacall.org/african-states-commend-work-genevacall-acknowledge-importance-engaging-armed-non-state-actors-landmine-ban/ (accessed on 8 June 2015).

- 297. Geneva Call Report. Armed Non-State Actors and Displacement in Armed Conflict. Available online: http://www.genevacall.org/wp-content/uploads/dlm_uploads/2013/12/Armed-non-State-actors-and-displacement-in-armed-conflict1.pdf (accessed on 20 May 2015).
- 298. Geneva Call Report. *Iranian Kurdish Armed Non-State Actors Commit to a Prohibition on Sexual Violence in Armed Conflict and to Improving Child Protection*; Posted on 19 December 2012. Available online: http://www.genevacall.org/geneva-call-position-paper-eu-africa-strategy-humanitarian-engagement-armed-non-state-actors-nsas/(accessed on 8 July 2015).
- 299. The five armed non-State actors included the; Democratic Party of Iranian Kurdistan, the Komala Party of Kurdistan, the Komala Party of Iranian Kurdistan, the Komalah—Kurdistan Organization of the Communist Party of Iran and the Kurdistan Democratic Party.
- 300. Geneva Call Report, Iran: A Kurdish Armed Movement Takes Official Commitments to Reinforce the Protection of Civilian, 28 June 2015. Available online: https://genevacall.org/iran-kurdish-armed-movement-takes-official-commitments-reinforce-protection-civilian/ (accessed on 30 April 2016).
- 301. Helmut, A.P. Complicity and the Law of State Responsibility; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2011.
- 302. Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, General Comment No. 1: Article 12: Equal Recognition before the Law, 11th Sess., Geneva and New York UN Doc. CRPD/C/GC/1 (19 May 2014).
- 303. The United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in connection with annual report (A/HRC/28/3) and (A/HRC/28/18). New York, USA.
- 304. Resolution 46/136 on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan and Resolution 46/135 on the situation of human rights in Kuwait under Iraqi occupation and Declaration 47/133 on the protection of all people against forced disappearances.
- 305. Leena, G. A call to arms: Fundamental dilemmas confronting the interpretation of crimes in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court. *Eur. J. Int. Law* **2010**, *21*, 543–583.
- 306. Scheinin, M. Impact on law of treaties. In *Impact of Human Rights Law on International Law*; Kamminga, M.T., Scheinin, M., Eds.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2009; p. 33.
- 307. Lubell, N. Extraterritorial Use of Force against Non-State Actors; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2010.
- 308. Mugabi, I.K. Armed Conflicts as Impediments to Enforcing the State Centric Nature of Human Rights Obligations. Case Study of the Convention on Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Public International Law: Human Rights eJournal. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2776744 (accessed on 13 June 2017).
- 309. Detter, I. The law of war. In Justice International Law and Global Security; Routledge: New York, NY, USA, 2016.
- 310. Knippers, J.B. *The Politics of Human Rights Protection: Moving Intervention Upstream with Impact Assessment;* Rowman & Littlefield: Lanham, MD, USA, 2009; p. 238.
- 311. The e General Assembly Resolution 48/141 of 20 December 1993. The Work of OHCHR Is Also Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and Subsequent Human Rights Instruments, Including the 1993 Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action and the 2005 World Summit Outcome Document (General Assembly resolution 60/1 of 16 September 2005).
- 312. See the CRPD Committee. Decisions on Violations in *HM v. Sweden*, Communication No. 3/2011, CRPD /C/7/D/3/2011, 19 April 2012, and *Szilvia Nyusti and Péter Takács v. Hungary*, Communication No. 1/2010, CRPD/C/9/D/1/2010, 16 April 2013. See also CRPD Committee, *Kenneth McAlpine v. The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland*, Communication No. 6/2011, CRPD/C/8/D/2011, 28 September 2012.
- 313. Ziemele, I.; Liede, L. Reservations to human rights treaties: From draft guideline 3.1.12 to 3.1.5.6. *Eur. J. Int. Law* **2013**, 24, 1135–1137. [CrossRef]
- 314. *Chiragov and Others v. Armenia*, Application No. 13216/05, Grand Chamber Judgment 16 June 2015 Paragraphs 167–187.
- 315. GA (A/59/568), The situation in the occupied territories of Azerbaijan—Letter dated 11 Nov 2004 from the Permanent Representative of Azerbaijan to the UN addressed to the President of the General Assembly 11 November 2004, New York, USA.

Societies **2018**, *8*, 28 43 of 43

316. Al Jazeera News. Nagorno-Karabakh: Azerbaijan Hits Armenia Defence Unit Reported on 16 May 2017. Available online: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/05/nagorno-karabakh-azerbaijan-hits-armenian-air-defence-170516104753249.html (accessed on 15 February 2018).

- 317. See also Norwegian Refugee Council's Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, Global Report on Internal Displacement; New Displacements by Conflict and Disaster in 2016. Available online: http://www.internal-displacement.org/global-report/grid2017/pdfs/2017-GRID.pdf (accessed on 12 June 2017).
- 318. Draft General Comment No. 5 (2017) Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in relation to Article 19: Living independently and being included in the community.
- 319. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). Strengthening Protection of Persons with Disabilities in Forced Displacement the Situation of Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons (IDPs) with Disabilities in Ukraine; Asel, O., Ed.; UNHCR: Kyiv, Ukraine, 2016.
- 320. The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030 Was Adopted at the Third UN World Conference in Sendai, Japan, on 18 March 2015. United Nations Office for Disaster Reduction Geneva Switzerland.
- 321. Greve, H.S. A Dictionary of Maqiao—In medias res. Eur. J. Int. Law 2014, 25, 1183-1193. [CrossRef]
- 322. Businge, P. Disability and armed conflict: A quest for Africanising disability in Uganda Disability and the Global South. *DGS* **2016**, *3*, 816–842.
- 323. Mansel, W.; Shaw, K.O. International Law a Critical Introduction; Hart Publishing: Oxford, UK, 2013; p. 6.
- 324. Frechette, K.S. Pollution wolves in scientific sheep's clothing; why environmental risk assessors and policy makers ignore the hard issues of human rights population. In *Human Rights: The Hard Questions*; Holder, C., Reidy, D., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2013; p. 251.
- 325. Vasak, K. Towards a specific international human rights law. In *The International Dimension of Human Right;* Vasak, K., Alston, P., Eds.; Unesco: Paris, France, 1982; pp. 671–672.
- 326. GCIII Article, 4A (2).
- 327. Jakubowski, A.; Wierczyńska, K. *Fragmentation vs. the Constitutionalisation of International Law*; Routledge Tylor and Francis Group: New York, NY, USA, 2016.
- 328. See CRPD Article 11(1) (2) on Freedom from torture.
- 329. Milanovic, M. Al-Skeini and Al-Jedda in Strasbourg. Eur. J. Int. Law 2012, 23, 121-139. [CrossRef]
- 330. Committee on the Rights of the Child, Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Rights of the Child: Chad, 50th session, New York, USA UN Doc CRC/C/TCD/CO/2 (12 February 2009).
- 331. CRPD Article 11, See also CRC Article 38(4).
- 332. Beaulac, S. *The Power of Language in the Making of International Law;* Brill Academic Publishers: Leiden, The Netherlands, 2004; p. 17.
- 333. Berman, S.P. Federalism and International Law through the Lens of Legal Pluralism. *Mo. Law Rev.* **2008**, 1151, 1178–1179.
- 334. ICRC Commentary, Rule 138.
- 335. AP I Article 8(a), GCIII Article 68, ICRC Commentary Rule 138.
- 336. Kumm, M. The Legitimacy of International Law: A Constitutionalist Framework of Analysis. *Eur. J. Int. Law* **2004**, *15*, 907. [CrossRef]
- 337. Schlund-Vials, J. Prosthetic Ecologies (Re)membering Disability Rehabilitating "Laos's Screte War". In *Disability Studies and the Environmental Humanities: Toward an Eco-Crip Theory*; Ray, S.J., Sibara, J., Eds.; University of Nebraska Press: Lincoln, NE, USA, 2017; p. 305.
- 338. Schabas, W.A. The right to life. In *The Oxford Handbook of International Law in Armed Conflict*; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2014; p. 373.



© 2018 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).